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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighted to present
to the shareholders of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”, “us” or
we”) the 2015 annual report of the Group.

The Group has historically focused on the manufacturing and sales
of corrugated paper boards and carton boxes. To improve our
competitive position, since 2006, we have moved to a vertically
integrated business model, producing corrugating medium and
linerboard. In the meantime, the Group suffered from the tumult
of the global economy, from Renminbi appreciation, financial
crisis, the global recession to the excess capacity in the Chinese
economy following a period of rapid growth. Given adverse
economic conditions in recent years, the Group’s profitability fell
slowly over the years.

Looking back on 2015, the global economy remained in a stage
of instability with a slow recovery in Europe and the United States
(“US”). The decision to raise interest rates for the first time since
the financial crisis in the US has piled on the burden on business.
Compared to other countries, even though the Chinese economy
saw higher levels of growth, the sudden depreciation of the
Renminbi sent many businesses to the wall.

Facing such adverse business conditions, the corrugated
packaging industry has started to stabilize. This came as a result
of strident environmental protection measures in the Mainland
and the elimination of outdated capacity, resulting in the closure
of several paper mills in Guangdong province and relieving the
industry of some of its excess capacity. The demand and supply
situation has moved towards stabilizing and selling prices have
improved.

The Group has started to see improvements after several years
of challenges. Although revenues fell in 2015 as a result of
a depreciation of the Renminbi, improvements in production
processes, cost controls and reduced wastage resulted in lower
production costs. In addition, financing costs fell after receiving
49% of the proceeds from the disposal of a subsidiary at the end
of 2014. Combined, these measures resulted in more than 200%
growth in operating profits for the year.

The Group continues to maintain low inventory levels, low gearing
and negligible levels of bad debts. Although provision for bad
debts rose as a result of a difficult market, this still came to less
than 0.3% of revenue. Gearing and net gearing levels have also
fallen in the year to around 13% and 3%, demonstrating our very
sound financial situation.
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Looking ahead to 2016, we expect a steady but slow economic
recovery for Europe and the US, and US interest rates could well
rise again. The Chinese economy is expected to slow further; the
Renminbi is expected to depreciate but at a more moderate level,
and business sentiment seems unlikely to improve. We remain
confident towards the outlook for the corrugated packaging
industry and we expect the Chinese government will from time to
time launch effective policies to resolve difficulties and maintain a
stable economy.

The Group will receive the remaining proceeds from the disposal
of the said subsidiary at the end of 2016, which would allow us
to repay all of our debts and make our financial situation even
healthier. We will continue to grasp the opportunities afforded
by the development of the domestic economy, embrace various
challenges, seize the competitive advantages of our vertically
integrated business model, improve production efficiency and
stringently control costs, in order to combat the pressure of rising
costs and ensure that the Group maintains stable growth for the
long term.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to thank
our management and staff at all levels for their solidarity in facing
up to the challenges, and the ongoing support of our customers,
suppliers, bankers and investors over the years. We will effectively
control our productivity and stabilize our costs, and strive to deliver
better returns to our Group and our shareholders.

Hui Sum Kwok
Chairman
30th March, 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWME N

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2015, the corrugated packaging industry saw a more stabilized
supply and demand situation compared to prior years, and the
Group’s sales volume was as a whole relatively stable. Domestic
and export sales accounted for 80% and 20% of revenue.
Revenue for the first half of the year rose by 1.1% compared to
2014, and second half revenue rose by 12.5% compared to the
first half of 2015, but down by 6% compared to the second half
of 2014, largely as a result of the depreciation of the Renminbi.
Revenue for the year fell by 2.8% compared to 2014.

The Group’s upstream containerboard business produces
corrugating medium and linerboard mainly to supply the Group’s
downstream corrugated packaging business to make corrugated
paper boards and carton boxes, as well as for direct sales to
customers depending on changes to market demand. In 2015,
approximately 30% of upstream production were sold directly to
customers. The upstream and downstream businesses accounted
for 32% and 68% of revenue, respectively. Upstream revenue
rose by 16.7% with capacity utilization at more than 80%, and
downstream revenue fell by 9.8%, with capacity utilization at more
than 60%.

The Group’s key raw material, wastepaper, are sourced from
both domestic China and overseas markets, and their average
cost fell slightly on a year on year basis. However, we still face
pressure from rising wages and related costs. We maintained
our flexible sales strategy and streamlined production process to
improve efficiency and productivity, lowering wastage as a result.
In addition, the Group’s working capital situation has improved,
reducing financing costs, and the Group’s operating profit saw
improvements as a result.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating results

The Group recorded a fall in revenue by 2.8%, from HK$1,097.1
million in 2014 to HK$1,066.5 million in 2015. The drop was mainly
due to depreciation in Renminbi which also led to slight fall in
average selling price.

Cost of sales declined 6.5%, resulting from improvement in
production process and drop in costs and usage of raw materials.
Gross profit increased 15.8%, from HK$183.6 million to HK$212.7
million. Gross profit margin increased from 16.7% to 19.9%.

The decrease in other income from HK$15.9 million to HK$13.3
million was mainly attributable to the fall in interest income earned
from lower average bank balances during the year.

Selling and distribution costs declined in line with the fall in revenue
by 3.3% from HK$63.5 million to HK$61.4 million.

There was an increase of 17.8% in administrative expenses from
HK$75.2 million to HK$88.6 million. It was predominantly due
to increasing staff cost, including salaries, bonuses and social
insurance.

Other expenses dropped 6.1%, from HK$24.7 million to HK$23.2
million. The drop was primarily due to value added tax refunded
by the Chinese Government and less depreciation charged for
the year. Provision for impairment losses on trade receivables
of HK$2.9 million was made for the year. Other expenses also
included two items: change of present value (gain) in respect
of receivables from disposal of a subsidiary of HK$7.9 million
and exchange difference (loss) on receivables from disposal
of a subsidiary of HK$11.8 million. The disposal was made in
December 2014 and the remaining 51% of the consideration will
be received in December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWME N

A decline in finance costs of 50.2%, from HK$21.5 million to
HK$10.7 million, was owing to less bank borrowings required
throughout the year.

Net profit (profit for the year less change of present value and
exchange difference on receivables from disposal of a subsidiary,
and gain on disposal of a subsidiary) surged HK$29.8 million, from
HK$10.4 million in 2014 to HK$40.2 million in 2015.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

At 31st December, 2015, the Group’s total cash and cash
equivalents were HK$151.6 million (31st December, 2014:
HK$394.0 million), mostly denominated in Renminbi. With cash
generated from disposal of a subsidiary and business operation,
total bank borrowings greatly fell HK$323.5 million, from
HK$518.3 million to HK$194.8 million.

Gearing ratio was greatly improved, declining from 33.8% to
13.2%. The current bank borrowings and the non-current bank
borrowings dropped HK$185.8 million and HK$137.7 million
respectively. The balance for total bank borrowings net of bank
balances and cash fell HK$81.1 million, from HK$124.3 million to
HK$43.2 million. Net gearing ratio fell from 8.1% to 2.9%.

Net current assets and current ratio of the Group were HK$316.2
million (31st December, 2014: HK$177.6 million) and 1.94 (31st
December, 2014: 1.33) respectively.

The Group spent HK$55.0 million on capital expenditures for
maintenance, environmental protection facilities, and technical
upgrade to the production lines and the ancillary facilities.

Stock, debtors and creditors turnover days were considered

stable. They were 56 days, 64 days and 42 days respectively. In
2014, they were 43 days, 67 days and 39 days respectively.
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Contingent liabilities

The tax audits conducted by the Inland Revenue Department
(“IRD”) on the Company and its subsidiaries for the years of
assessment 2004/2005 to 2010/2011 are still on-going. The IRD
had issued protective assessments for the years of assessment
2004/2005 to 2010/2011 to certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Objections were lodged against all these assessments. The
Directors believe that no additional provision for Hong Kong profits
tax is necessary at the present stage. The outcome and impact of
this matter cannot be determined with reasonable certainty.

OUTLOOK

We expect gradual improvement to the global economy but at a
relatively slow pace, and continued volatility in exchange rates, if
only at a more moderate level. We will strive for pricing power in
order to reasonably pass on our operating costs to our customers.
We expect selling prices to return to reasonable levels as industry
wide excess capacity issues abate. We promise to continue to
improve production efficiency, increase sales volume, reduce raw
materials wastage and energy use as our main strategy to offset
cost increases, in order to enhance the Group’s profitability.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31st December, 2015, the Group and the processing
factory employed a total workforce of around 1,100 full time
staff (2014: 1,100). Competitive remuneration packages were
offered to employees. The Group may also grant share options
and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on the
performance of the Group and individuals.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
BEEERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, aged 56, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Hui is responsible for the overall corporate planning, business
development and management of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 31
years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman
of the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 54, is the vice chairman of the Board,
an executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the
Group. Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development of the
Group. Mr. Hui has over 31 years of experience in the corrugated
packaging industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman
of the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company), and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 49, is an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the
Group since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has
over 29 years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry
in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman of
the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman of the Board,
executive Director, and substantial shareholder of the Company).
Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, aged 45, is an executive Director, the chief
financial officer, the company secretary and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Hui is responsible for the financial management
of the Group. Ms. Hui is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Hui
worked in an international accounting firm prior to joining the
Group in May 1997.

Ms. Hui obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in 1992. Ms.
Hui did not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company. Ms. Hui
did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong
Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chee is a practising Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong and a senior partner of Chan
Chee Cheng & Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Chee had worked in two international accounting firms in Canada
and Hong Kong. Mr. Chee is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Chee obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) with Honours from Birmingham University in 1984.
Mr. Chee used to be a non-executive director of Bestway
International Holdings Limited and an executive director of Global
Mastermind Capital Limited (formerly known as Mastermind
Capital Limited), both companies listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chee did not have any relationship with
any Directors, substantial shareholders and senior management of
the Company.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
BEEERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan, aged 66, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Mr. Yip is a managing director in the Investment
Banking Department of China Investment Securities International
Capital Ltd., Hong Kong. Mr. Yip has over 34 years of experience
in investment, corporate finance, financial advisory and business
management. Mr. Yip has a long track record of working with
various financial institutions, including UOB Asia (Hong Kong)
Limited as a chief executive officer, and Guosen Securities (HK)
Capital Company Limited, DBS Asia Capital Ltd, Hong Kong, DBS
Securities (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong and First Chicago Hong
Kong Limited as a managing director.

Mr. Yip obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
with Honours from the National University of Singapore (formerly
known as the University of Singapore) in 1971. Mr. Yip used to
be an independent non-executive director of Powerwell Pacific
Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Yip did not have any relationship with any
Directors, substantial shareholders and senior management of the
Company.

Mr. Wong Chu Leung, aged 68, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong
has over 31 years of experience in enterprise management and
manufacturing operation management. Mr. Wong is a shareholder
and a director of a metal ware manufacturing company with
manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong did not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 53, is the deputy general manager
of the Group. Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of
procurement, logistics and human resources of the Group. Mr.
Tsui has over 20 years of experience in corrugated packaging
industry in Hong Kong and the PRC. Prior to joining the Group
in February 2008, Mr. Tsui was a shareholder and a director of a
corrugated packaging manufacturing company.

Mr. Tsui is a brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman of
the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company), Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman of the Board,
executive Director and substantial shareholder of the Company)
and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company).

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 44, is the senior accounting manager
of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible for overseeing accounting
operations of the Group. Ms. Wong obtained a Degree of Bachelor
of Business Administration majoring in accounting from the
University of Houston — Downtown in the United States in 1994.
Ms. Wong worked in an international accounting firm prior to
joining the Group in May 2002.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERHRE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st
December, 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2015, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and except for code
provisions A.2.1, B.1.2 and C.3.3, details will be set out below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code and the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2015.

The Company has also established written guidelines no
less exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of
four Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Hui Sum Kwok Chairman

Hui Sum Ping Vice Chairman

Hui Sum Tai Chief Executive Officer
Hui Yuen Li Chief Financial Officer,

Company Secretary and
Member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chairman of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee and
Member of the Nomination Committee

Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee

Member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee

Chee Man Sang, Eric

Yip Kwok Kwan

Wong Chu Leung

The relationships between the members of the Board are
disclosed under “Management Profile” on pages 10 to 13.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally.

The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and distinctive
and hence, written terms thereof are not necessary. This deviates
from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates
that the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

g

EXgRNAEtRKEBER  BRETIIENERMTESER
—REIIFNTES

HITEFE -

FFARE 1

FFFRF EIEE

BECES TR AR,

FHEA] BB
NAJRE
HHEZRE L
WEEZREHKR

BUIFHTEF

wRAE ERZRELE
FHEZERELTER
WEEZREHKR

EEh) EEZRETE
FERZEER
HNEREHK R

33 FERZRE
HHEZREL
WEEZREHKR

EERREH BEDAE10E13EY [ERERE
B -

EFERITHAR

R RTBEH Y BAH B h S RE LA R RRAE
B s EEEAS AT OB SR Y SNERRS
BEER - TRERTEEEANAZ EHEE - AE
ERR—MEE -

EEgRR IRETHRARSEZBRENEBERENN
BARE  MBBEUNEMBDME ZBIERLE - (RREE
ESFUZTFAENEA2.1E + ZIEXR TSR
BIEERETHASK CMEHRE - WAEEIL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE & 15



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that Non-
executive Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment and that every director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
is appointed for a specific term of two years and is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Directors take decisions objectively in
the interests of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management (continueqd)

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
will be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics will
be issued to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant external training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

(continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, all Directors had
participated in two in-house briefings on updates on Listing Rules
and related matters and had read some articles and materials
relevant to their duties and responsibilities as Directors.

In addition, the following Directors have attended external
seminars and trainings organized by professional institutions,
qualified professional bodies or regulatory bodies.

Directors
Executive Directors

Hui Sum Kwok

Hui Sum Ping

Hui Sum Tai

Hui Yuen Li

Topic

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business, Technical Seminar on “Hong
Kong Tax Updates 2015”, 2015 Financial
Reporting Update: Application issues of the
new Companies Ordinance in Hong Kong
& new and revised IFRSs/HKFRSs for 2015
financial year-end, Joint Financial Reporting
Forum, 2015 Symposium on Investor
Relations: Investor Engagement Strategy
after the Stock Connect, Tax Updates
from Hong Kong and China, Guardian
Role of Professionals in Upholding Ethical
Governance, Corporate Governance &
Regulatory Updates, Listing compliance
update, Listing enforcement strategy,
current theme and case study and Integrity
Management and Corruption Prevention
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(continued)

Directors Topic

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chee Man Sang, Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Eric Business, Financial Reporting Standard
Updates, Connected transactions -
practical sharing & latest update on
Listing Rules, Practical Tips on handling
Inside Information under the Listing Rules’
requirements/Notifiable Transaction
update, D&O Insurance, Managing risk
in regulatory & internal investigation &
implementing responsible practices,
Practical approach in financial & tax due
diligence for listed transaction, ESG report
preparation, The common disclosure
deficiencies of listed company’s annual/
interim financial statements and Valuation
Challenge - Trading suspension and
common misunderstanding

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business

Yip Kwok Kwan

Annual Conference 2015: Innovation in
Business

Wong Chu Leung

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” on page 2.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, internal
control procedures and risk management system, audit plan and
relationship with external auditor, and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee held three meetings to review interim results
and report for the period ended 30th June, 2015 and annual
financial results and reports for the year ended 31st December,
2015 and significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems and scope of work and appointment of external auditor.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee
has met with the Company’s auditor once to discuss matters
arising from the audit of the Company’s annual results and other
matters the auditor may wish to raise during the year ended 31st
December, 2015. This deviates from the code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code which stipulates that the Audit Committee must
meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and
establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once to review the Directors’
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors.

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. This deviates from the code provision B.1.2 of
the CG Code which stipulates that the Remuneration Committee
should make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all the Directors’ and senior management
remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Details of the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31st December, 2015 are
set out below:

Remuneration band

7B 48 51

EEREE(HF)

FMEEsS(#)
BE_ZT-AF+-_A=T—HLFE ENSLKER
Bk & 2 R R 80 2 FERFIMT

Number of senior management
SREEERE

Nil - HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000 7T

Nomination Committee

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would consider a number of aspects set out in the
Board diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and, where
necessary, recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Nomination Committee met once to review annually
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and
has not set any measurable objective implementing the Board
diversity policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and the senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Employee
Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, the Board
Committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company
held during the year ended 31st December, 2015 is set out in the
table below:

EECCRNARAZEEERBRRLER  BEERD
REBEB 2BV RFEEXER - ARAEETEN K
EERAEZBREER  BTHRETAIREREEES
ARETRESTAIRNARREBRE T FHAME

EERZEEHEZHFEERTHE

SEENBE_E-HEE+-A=t-BILEERFY
EELRY EFEEEREARAAARTAGZHE
EHRBIINTE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/&E¥E

Annual

Remuneration Audit Nomination General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEpg Ezg FHWZEES ERZES REZEE® RRBEAE
Hui Sum Kwok FFAREL 4/4 N/ATiEF N/ATNE A N/ATE R 1/1
Hui Sum Ping HRE 4/4 N/ATEFR N/ATE R N/ATNE A 1/1
Hui Sum Tai FRE 4/4 N/AT R N/AT R N/AT R 11
Hui Yuen Li i 4/4 1/1 N/ATER 1/1 1/1
Chee Man Sang, Eric HERE 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1 0/
Yip Kwok Kwan @Y 4/4 11 3/3 1/1 11
Wong Chu Leung Bk 4/4 11 3/3 11 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held
meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of Executive Directors during the year ended 31st
December, 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2015.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 42 to 43.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration payable to the external auditor
of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31st
December, 2015 is set out below:

Service Category

ESAMUMBBRRZEE(E)

ESVTABEAERTHEERR S KA EHARRR
BISERNERNERRRZ EHRIER

AARBYZBMEBERRY SRR 2 ETZERH
REBA2FA3E [ B EEIRE |A -

= EED 2 Fr

MEBE-_E—AF+ _A=+—BHIFEZ2EZRE &

FEZRFAARRRINEZZENEE o BERT SFTED
T2 EIAFMA RS T -

Fees Payable/Paid

REERIE T BN BAER

HK$

BT

Audit Services Bz 1,650,000
Non-audit Services (including compliance and other EBZRIE(BIEAR M EM 2 RARE)

reporting services) 143,000

1,693,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, the Board, through
the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Company, including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

R EREE IR

 E-T-AFT_A=+T—RALFE EXECAEB
ERZREERNARR CAREENEME  BRER
ZRAE AREARSHEMBRRZIETERERE
B UARRFZFIFERESR -

Rz R

BRERRZ M@ REN - KRR SR ERBELEKRM
B(BRERERNER)RBRRAGREBILREER - R
BLEMRA - AAERBRERAE LREZRBRANUKERE
TRARR  BEERBNVETRERRZEBRRERKRER
TTRERNR AR P2 @8k ET)E -
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ERERHRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board does not aware of any provisions allowing the
shareholders of the Company to put forward proposals at
general meetings of the Company under the Company’s Articles
of Association and the Cayman Islands Law (2013 Revision).
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for

election as a Director of the Company are published on the
Company’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor, Superluck
Industrial Centre (Phase 2), No. 57 Sha Tsui Road
and Nos. 30-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2414 5508

Email: hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, there was no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents and
these documents are available on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

BRIz R ()

B ER

BERTE - R RS AR ERE T4
%

ok BB REEDPIBESTHR R
ABiE30-385%
FEITEPRL(EZH)
221BE « FRHEE
(FEBYHABITHREE, A7
&)

B5E : (852) 2414 5508

BT - hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

RRER  BRABHEARZECEERER BARE
RAYER(RBERAME) 2 EARD Lalspar - WRERS
2% BRFBREN  UWEARREE - KREFHA
BERBAFEREM TIAKE -

ERRBERREERRE

ARBRE - BERRFRBERER - SHREREERE
RINRREEUARBEBRANKBEERERER -
ARRRBEARFEBRR 2EOHE  LERBBRRE
FAERAEMBRAE -

EXSTF 2RBUFNTEELMAESEREEL
IR (AFEEZRR)BHFRRBFAEG - ERRAE
W B ERE IR

BE-ZT-AFt-_A=1T—HLFE ARFAZEE
XA E|EAEE - MEFEXHC TER AR R B
P ut o

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE & 25



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st December, 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A review of the Group’s business, including the outlook and
the principal risks and uncertainties, is set out in Chairman’s
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4
to 9, and in notes 4, 5, 6, 7 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2015
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 44.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.50 cents per share to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 13th June, 2016.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual

general meeting, it is expected that the payment of final dividend
will be made in June 2016.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2011 to 2015 is set out on page 120.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves of the
Group during the year, are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 46.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Vice Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Chief Financial Officer

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan
Mr. Wong Chu Leung

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Ms. Hui Yuen Li and Mr. Yip
Kwok Kwan shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of two years commencing
on 15th September, 2014, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 10 to
13.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

SHARE OPTIONS B RE

Particulars of the old and new share option schemes of the AR ENITEBIRELTZZHBHENEEHBREMN
company are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial 725 -
statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share ~ NXRIFBE AN A GIBRERFERN 2 EEF) :
options during the year:

Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding
price per at beginning during during during at end of
Category Option type Date of grant share  of the year the year the year the year the year
F9 FR
il BREERR REBRH SROEE i RATRE FREH FRTHE FREH i RAT R
(Note) HK$
(FzE) BT
Directors
=
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok F 24.10.2013 0.280 19,000,000 - (14,250,000) - 4,750,000
FHREKE
Mr. Hui Sum Ping F 2410.2013 0.280 19,000,000 - (14,250,000) - 4,750,000
FHRFRE
Mr. Hui Sum Tai F 24.10.2013 0.280 19,000,000 - (14,250,000) - 4,750,000
FRREE
Ms. Hui Yuen Li F 2410.2013 0.280 3,000,000 - (2,250,000) - 750,000
SR T
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric F 24.10.2013 0.280 2,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 500,000
MRAELE
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan F 2410.2013 0.280 1,300,000 - (800,000) - 500,000
Mr. Wong Chu Leung F 24.10.2013 0.280 2,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 500,000
BHRELE
65,300,000 - (48,800,000) - 16,500,000
Other employees F 2410.2013 0.280 3,219,000 - (1,608,000) - 1,611,000
Hitfgg
Total for all categories
2RER A 68,519,000 - (50,408,000) - 18,111,000
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Note:

The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by Directors
at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options
granted under the Company’s share option scheme may only exercise their
options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Granted under new scheme
BB B

Option type F

FARRE AR 1

BRREGE

GEE

REBERE s SEPRRESFNEAREERERETE - AQF
R A TR E AERAIRATITRBITRREZER
1

Maximum % of share options exercisable
ATEBREs &S E DL

1.5.2014 - 30.4.2015

1.56.20156 - 30.4.2016

1.5.2016 - 30.4.2017

As at 31st December, 2015, the total number of new shares
which might be issued upon exercise of the options that had
been granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was
18,111,000 new shares, representing approximately 2.32% of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date.

up to 50%
= AlE50%

up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
B ALET5% (AR ARITHRERR)

up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)
REAE100% (MAMKITEZABR)

R-ZFE—RF+-_A=+—H AREFEEREM
WMATHEZEREEITEMAERIT ZFRMD A
18,111,000 7% * XV ARRIE A BITRYD
2.32% °
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2015, the interests
and short positions of the Directors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

(a) Shares

EERKRG - HEROREZ 2 #ER

BEXHEEN R-_F-—AFT_A=+—H &K
RRBIRBESFLAE GBS RHEED ) F3562
BZREEF2BRMMEE  IRBELEMETAES
ETEFXGNBEETRENGARBRBRIAE &
ERARAREBEEE(CERERBR BB EHIEXV
2B - HEARDRESTHEE ZESRARDOT

(a) Btn

Approximate

Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director ~ corporation Capacity class of securities EEBTRE
Expg AR/ REEEER L) EHHERER BaEs
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Interest of controlled 385,068,793 shares 49.44%
SHRELE YN corporations Long position (Note 1)
REEEER 385,058, 793R {7
2 (FifEE1)
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Beneficial owner 21,831,411 shares 2.80%
SRELE VNS EZHEA Long position
21,831,411 1RB& 13
A
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Gompany Interest of spouse 750,000 shares 0.09%
FHERE YN [ 3 Long position
750,000 & 7
3}
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Gompany Founder of a discretionary 385,068,793 shares 49.44%
TRFEE VYN trust / interest of controlled Long position (Note 1)
corporations 385,058,793 17
PREETEIA/ 12 (MaEt)
REEEER
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

EERRG AERORES 2 ER(E

(a) Bt (#&)

Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director ~ corporation Capacity class of securities HERITRAR
£33 NGV ) 3 g L) E5HERER BREDL
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 18,138,000 shares 2.32%
TRTEE YN EREEA Long position
18,138,0000 %17
#E
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of a controlled Nil (Note 1) =
FHRERE NG corporation &)
REZEER
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 5,166,189 shares 0.66%
TRRRAE KRR ERBEA Long position
5,166,189 R 17
HE
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric Company Beneficial owner 96,000 shares 0.01%
HRARE NG EREAA Long position
96,0008% 7 17
e
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan ~ Company Beneficial owner 400,000 shares 0.05%
ERHEE YN EnBEA Long position
400,008 813
3}
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan ~ Company Interest of spouse 400,000 shares 0.05%
ERHEE YN [P Long position
400,0008 813
#E
Mr. Wong Chu Leung  Company Beneficial owner 500,000 shares 0.06%
vty AR EalaA Long position
500,0008% 8% {5
#E
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Limited Interest of controlled 7,474 shares of US$0.01 each 74.74%

FHRERE

(“Hop Fung Industries”)

corporations
REERRE

Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
7474 BIREE0.01E T 2R 1D
2 (1 k2)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

Company /

(a) B (4&)

EERRG  HERORES 2R (E)

Approximate
percentage of

Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director  corporation Capacity class of securities HEBTRA
Espg KRR/ HEEEEE &t EHHARER BaEst
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 7,474 shares of US$0.01 each 74.74%
TRTEE trust / interest of controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
corporations 7ATARBRAEE.OIET LKA
PREETEIA/ R (FE1k2)
AR
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 2,526 shares of US$0.01 each 25.26%
IRREE EnBEA Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
2,526 R BIREEO.01E T 2Rt
2 (HE1k2)
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner / interest of a 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
FRELE (Holdings) Limited controlled corporation Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
(‘Hop Fung Industries BVI') ~ BE#XBEBEA/ 5,000 SR EE0.01%T 2 Kin
R ERRR & (FfiE1k3)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries BVI Beneficial owner / founder 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
TRTERAE of a discretionary trust / Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
interest of a controlled 5,000 B RAEEC.01ET 2K
corporation 178 (M1 R3)
ExlEAN/
RRETELA/
AR
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Gong Ming Hop Fung Interest of controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
FRERE Paper Ware Factory Limited corporations deferred shares of HK$1 each
(“Hop Fung GM") RErEER Long and short positions
AHEEARBARAR (Notes 1 and 4)
(T5ERH]) 3,000,000 SR EE
BT ERFRETR
iR Rk R (i1 R4)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung GM Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
SRTEE LN trust / interest of controlled deferred shares of HK$1 each
corporations Long and short positions
2EETETAS (Notes 1 and 4)
REEEER 3,000,000 R EE
VBT BREBELR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

(a) Bt (#&)

EERRG AERORES 2 ER(E

Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director ~ corporation Capacity class of securities HERITRAR
£33 ALE/REEEER 513 E5HERER BREDL
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1 and 4) -
FHRERE AENH corporation / short &1 R4)
position of a controlled
corporation
REEERG/
ZmEEKE
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Fung Kong Hop Fung Interest of controlled 1,630,000 non-voting 51%
FHRELE Paper Ware Factory Limited corporations deferred shares of HK$1 each
(*Hop Fung FG") SHEEES Long and short positions
BEsEHARRERAR (Notes 1, 4 and 5)
(I2gRE]) 1,530,000% 5 R EE
1T BEREEETR
HERAR (W1 - 4]5)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung FG Founder of a discretionary 1,530,000 non-voting 51%
TRTEE AEEME trust / interest of controlled deferred shares of HK$1 each
corporations Long and short positions
2RETEITA/ (Notes 1, 4 and 5)
R rBER 1,530,000 B R EE
1T BEREEELR
18 RokAE (M1 - 4]k5)
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung FG Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1, 4 and 5) -
FRREE BLEH corporation / short E(JH5E1 - 4R5)
position of a controlled
corporation
REEERG/
ZEEERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE#HE 33



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)

(@) Shares (continued)

34

Notes:

The 385,058,793 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries.
The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned as to
74.74% and 25.26% by Hop Fung Industries BVI and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned
as to 11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui
Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Fullwood Holdings Limited
(“Fullwood”) and Goldspeed Holdings Limited (“Goldspeed”)
respectively. Fullwood is wholly owned by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok.
Goldspeed is wholly owned by Goldkeen Assets Management
Limited (“Goldkeen”) and Goldkeen is wholly owned by HSBC
in its capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a
discretionary trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping
and the discretionary objects of which include family members
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok
and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the
385,058,793 shares under the SFO.

Hop Fung Industries is a holding company of the Company and
therefore an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is
US$100 divided into 10,000 shares of US$0.01 each which is
owned as to 7,474 and 2,526 shares by Hop Fung Industries
BVI and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. Under the SFO, each
of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 7,474 shares of US$0.01 each in Hop Fung
Industries.

Hop Fung Industries BVI is a holding company of Hop Fung
Industries and therefore an associated corporation of the
Company under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of
Hop Fung Industries BVI is US$100 divided into 10,000 shares
of US$0.01 each which is owned as to 1,181, 1,181, 3,819
and 3,819 shares by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Ping,
Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, each
of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is interested and/
or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 5,000 shares of
US$0.01 each in Hop Fung Industries BVI.
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EERRG  HERORES 2R (E)

(a) B (4&)

f

e

5% 385,058,793 % B% {7 H8 Hop Fung Industries
A ° Hop Fung Industries & 3 77 % Z& % Bl i Hop
Fung Industries BVIR F AR F X £ B 74.74% &
25.26% -

Hop Fung Industries BVIZ B 31T & A% Bl B 55 7
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

4.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The
entire issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100
divided into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-
voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are
beneficially owned by Hop Fung Group (HK) Limited (“Hop Fung
Group HK”) which is owned as to 91.43% and 8.57% by Hop
Fung Holdings Limited (“Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)”), and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Holdings (BVI) is owned
as to 50%, 11.81% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping and Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, each
of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1
each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop
Fung Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group
Company Limited (“Hop Fung Group (BVI)”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, an option to purchase from them
such 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in
Hop Fung GM. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and
Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to have a short position in the
underlying shares of the option granted under the option deed
pursuant to the SFO.

Hop Fung FG is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The
number of issued shares of Hop Fung FG is 3,000,100 divided
into 100 ordinary shares and 3,000,000 non-voting deferred
shares, of which 1,530,000 non-voting deferred shares are
beneficially owned by Hop Fung Group HK. Under the SFO,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed
to be interested in the 1,530,000 non-voting deferred shares in
Hop Fung FG.

Pursuant to two equity transfer agreements dated 24th
October, 2014 (details of which are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements), Hop Fung Group (BVI)
agreed to sell and transfer and the purchasers thereof agreed
to purchase the remaining 51% interests (both the 51 ordinary
shares held by Hop Fung Group (BVI) and the 1,530,000 non-
voting deferred shares held by Hop Fung Group HK) of Hop
Fung FG by the end of 2016. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum
Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to have a short position
in the 1,530,000 non-voting deferred shares of Hop Fung FG
under the two equity transfer agreements pursuant to the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in
share options of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2015.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31st December, 2015, the following shareholders had
interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

EERRG  HERORES 2R (E)

(b) BBRRAE

EERBEZBBALTRARRBIE 215
NS (B —& -

B EXEBEEN RZZE-—RAFT-A=+—H E=F
MipEZBBEATMERAR RS ETAREE 2T
i« MERORESFTHEEEMEEIAE -

FTERRER
RIZB-—HEF+ZA=+—0 REXRFARBEFR

HEEMEIIBHEFEZELMALHERSITHERR
A THIBRERRAR B R SHARRE D h B S 0%

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise &
notified to the Company:
Approximate
Number percentage of
Number of of share issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity issued shares held options held Note(s) HERTRA
RREB,/ 2 L) RFEERTROHUE FisERESE Mzt BREA
Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 385,058,793 = 1 49.44%
ERBEBA
Hop Fung Industries BVI Interest of a controlled corporation 385,058,793 - 1,2 49.44%
Fullwood Interest of controlled corporations 385,058,793 = 1,2,38,4 49.44%
REEE R
Goldspeed Interest of controlled corporations 385,068,793 - 1,2,3,5 49.44%
Goldkeen Interest of controlled corporations 385,058,793 = 1,2,8,5 49.44%
REEE R
HSBC Trusjee of discretionary trust 385,058,793 - 1,2,3,5 49.44%
PREEAZTA
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner / interest of 407,640,204 4,750,000 1,2,3,4,6 52.95%
AHRERE controlled corporations /
interest of spouse
EXlE A/ SRS /BB ER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner / founder of a 403,196,793 4,750,000 1,2,3,57 52.38%

HETRE discretionary trust / interest of
controlled corporations
BilAA/ 2RERALA/
REEEER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:
1. The 385,058,793 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries.

2. The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned as to
74.74% and 25.26% by Hop Fung Industries BVI and Mr. Hui Sum Tai
respectively and Hop Fung Industries BVI is deemed to be interested
in the 385,058,793 shares under the SFO.

3.  The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned as to
11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping, Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively.

4, The entire issued share capital of Fullwood is directly held by Mr. Hui
Sum Kwok. Accordingly, each of Fullwood and Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is
deemed to be interested in the 385,058,793 shares under the SFO.

5. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by
HSBC through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its
capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary
trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary
objects of which include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping.
Accordingly, each of Goldspeed, Goldkeen, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum
Ping is deemed to be interested in the 385,058,793 shares under the
SFO.

6. Of 407,640,204 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in
750,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 406,890,204
shares and 4,750,000 share options of the Company under the
SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, a Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

7. Ms. Jian Jian Yi is deemed to be interested in 403,196,793 shares
and 4,750,000 share options under the SFO as she is the spouse
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a Director and a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2015.
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-
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4. FullwoodZ 2HEEHITRAHTRALEEERFH -
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7£EGoldkeen SAHSP 2004 Family TrustZ Z3EA H17
A o HSP 2004 Family Trust/y—JE 245 - HAl
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Rk 8 o Eit - BIEFHFRPEKEH - Goldspeed *
Goldkeen * HSBC R TR F XA S BW KR A B %
385,058,793 A% 15 2 #E % ©

6. 1407,640204EHH - X LTEEHFBEALARQR
750,000 ek - ARBHREARRRZEEREE
R RBEEE 2R - REBEFHFRAERG - St
W18 4 B AR B1406,890,204 A% B% 15 K 4,750,00015 B8
ReAE 2 #E RS o

7. BREIERAEGKS  HRERELZTALRRFZES
REZRIARFELECES  BRELTHEAES
403,196,793 0% A% 15 K 4,750,00017 BB AL 2 #E25 ©
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31st December, 2015.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate. In addition, save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors, and any of their respective associates were
granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company or
had exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates were
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that
competes or competed or are or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during
the year ended 31st December, 2015 and up to the date of this
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
2015.

38

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ £ EiZRER AT

BE  HEIFEEAXRQAF LEHRS

BE_ZT-AF+_A=T—RHIFE ARFHEME
AMBARLERE  HEXRBLEAREMLHE

BEROIEZZZH

B EXTHEE—SHEREEIN  Aar - EEER
NAE - AEMBARRMEARLENFAERNKEHZ
BET AR - BUEEEEBRBARRRE[ME
EABBZ IR HESF MR © I R EXHES
S EEREERAZBMBEALTEREINFATE
EAIRRBERRRE SR o

EENRE REREEGNZHER

KA M BRERMEN B 2 XS5 » ARRHEAEM
P /B8 R R BE 428 BT S A A 7R AN S S A B R R IR AT B
DRERMARBEENETEERKAZERERNES
R RHRERAH -

EENHFRBTNES

BE_Z-AF+_A=+T—RALFEUREEERRE
BHA EERREZEZBHBEALIHRENAEEERE
PASH - BIREFSBEER IR AR KB EB BT A
eSO EI R A s

EESME

RIF—RF BB FECAERRRERER
FEMERFONERRTREBENE R (EES R
IV



PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 167(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred by him or her in the execution and discharge of his or her
duties.

The Company maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance during 2015 and up to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2015, the aggregate amount
of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 13% of the Group’s revenue.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 55% of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 15% of the
Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any related party
transactions or continuing related party transactions which fall
under the definition of “Connected Transaction” or “Continuing
Connected Transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which shall oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to approximately HK$203,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors strive to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasise the importance of a quality Board, effective
internal controls and accountability to shareholders. The Company
has met the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange throughout the year ended
31st December, 2015, except with the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

° Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

° There are no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The
Directors consider that the responsibilities of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and
distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

Code Provision B.1.2

° A deviation from the code provision B.1.2 is that the
Remuneration Committee of the Company reviews
and makes recommendations to the Directors on the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors only but
not the senior management.

o Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.

Code Provision C.3.3

° Code provision C.3.3 stipulates that the audit committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor.

e  Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee
has met with the Company’s auditor once a year to discuss
matters arising from the audit of the Company’s annual
results and other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The
Audit Committee has met with the Company’s auditor once
during the year ended 31st December, 2015.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving continuous improvement
in environmental performance and complying with the relevant
environmental regulations and rules. 100% wastepaper (old
containerboard cardboard) is used by the Group for producing
containerboard in the upstream business.

Environmental protection measures are implemented by the
Group to minimize the impact on the environment including waste
water treatment, installation of dust filtration and desulphurization
equipment, and replacement of wood with natural gas. Two of the
manufacturing facilities of the Group have been accredited with the
ISO14001 certification for its environmental management system.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditor of the
Company since its incorporation.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Kwok
Chairman
30th March, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R R

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop
Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 44 to 119,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31st December, 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2015 and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30th March, 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEREERkEMEZEIER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Pt = FERT TR
Revenue e 25 7 1,066,541 1,097,102
Cost of sales 8 & AR (853,879) (913,496)
Gross profit EF 212,662 183,606
Other income HAadA 8 13,319 15,888
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SHEK AR (61,400) (63,522)
Administrative expenses THRAX (88,619) (75,178)
Other expenses H AR (23,170) (24,707)
Finance costs R AN 9 (10,698) (21,499)
Changes in fair value of derivative PESBMTAATE
financial instruments 2 e 323 147
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEH B AR Z e 29 - 378,802
Profit before taxation F B A 42,417 393,537
Income tax expense FTiS 8 < 10 (6,129) (4,365)
Profit for the year, attributable to owners RRARIEE AEMN
of the Company FEFE 11 36,288 389,172
Other comprehensive expense for the year: FEEMEERAY :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEpEEF DS Eas
to profit or loss: ZHEH
Exchange differences arising from BEGINEEZER
translation of foreign operations =7 (94,074) (9,853)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AAREEABGEEZH
for the year, attributable to owners (FAs2) Wz 4258
of the Company (567,786) 379,319
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Earnings per share TR ZEF| 14
— basic —EK 4.77 53.70
— diluted —#E 4.52 52.90
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B B RS IR AR

AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
=E-—AFSf=HA=+—H

2015 2014
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 15 1,267,429 1,371,405
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights b FRAETE N A E5KIA 16 23,982 16,684
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary HEMHBA TZEWMIE 29 - 229,068
1,291,411 1,617,157
Current assets REBEE
Inventories "E 17 91,348 111,361
Trade and other receivables B 2 K Hith fE 5K IE 18 174,784 207,025
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary HENBA TZJ:HAZMIE 29 225,201 -
Deposits and prepayments Be KA 8,249 5,782
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights T R TR A S IR 16 433 425
Derivative financial instruments MTEEMTE 19 - 68
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR 20 151,589 393,988
651,604 718,649
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade, bills and other payables B  REREAMENFIE 21 211,803 232,278
Taxation payable JET IR 12,222 11,509
Derivative financial instruments TESmI A 19 - 48
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRIRITIEE 22 111,415 297,249
335,440 541,084
Net current assets RBEEFE 316,164 177,565
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAEME 1,607,575 1,794,722
Capital and reserves BRAR #E
Share capital &N 23 77,871 72,831
Reserves (e 1,402,467 1,461,618
Total equity, attributable to owners RATEEAEGERS
of the Company Pkl 1,480,338 1,534,449
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Unsecured bank borrowings EIERIRITEE 22 83,404 221,070
Deferred taxation IEAEFLIE 24 43,833 39,203
127,237 260,273
1,607,575 1,794,722
The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 119 were RFM BBV EAHBHREE RN —F =4

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
30th March, 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

HUI SUM KWOK = #%E
DIRECTOR 2%

9 |1

SHREEERRERERER  Lh FHEERE
= .

HUI SUM PING F#%F
DIRECTOR 2%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

Share
Share Share Special Translation options  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RE  ROEE BHARE EXRE BRERE RENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL BT THBL FAT FAT
(note)
(FizE)
At 1st January, 2014 R-Z—-mE-f—-H 72,439 443,294 (107,444) 165,559 19,266 556,684 1,149,798
Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 389,172 389,172
Exchange differences arising from 8G90 #7462 B 5 =5
translation of foreign operations ~ REEHMAERX
and total other comprehensive B
expense for the year - - - (9,853) - - (9,853)
Total comprehensive income FEZARGEE
for the year - - - (9,853) - 389,172 379,319
Recognition of equity-settled R EE R
share-based payments TRz ZH - - - - 4,234 - 4,234
Exercise of share options id i 392 706 - - - - 1,008
At 31st December, 2014 RZZ—NE+=A
== 72,831 444,000 (107,444) 155,706 23,500 945,856 1,534,449
Profit for the year FEFE = = = = = 36,288 36,288
Exchange differences arising from #E N EBEX 28
translation of foreign operations ~ REEAMRAERZ
and total other comprehensive kel
expense for the year - - - (94,074) - - (94,074)
Total comprehensive expense FEXERYASE
for the year - - - (94,074) - 36,288 (57,786)
Recognition of equity-settled BRI REEE R
share-based payments Sz % - - - - 1,171 - 1,171
Exercise of share options AEERE 5,040 9,074 - - - - 14,114
Transfer upon exercise of TR R
share options - 17,289 - - (17,289 - -
2014 final dividend paid ENZZ-RERGRE - - = = = (11,610) (11,610)
At 31st December, 2015 R-ZE—R%+-A
== 77,871 470,363 (107,444) 61,632 7,382 970,534 1,480,338

MISE : SRR A D RN B R B 2 R & K AN BB A B
RERECRABEIRA_ST=FEESTAMKEZ
MBARZRAEEBELERE

Note: Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of
investments in subsidiaries of the Company and the aggregate
amount of the non-voting deferred share capital of the subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired
as a result of the group reorganisation in 2003.
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CONSOLIDATED SPATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A Ao~ — |
HmeEHETRER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
Rt G o S S ety SE =

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TR
Operating activities BEEE
Profit before taxation AT A E 42,417 393,537
Adjustments for: LIEH AT A
Finance costs B 745 P R 10,698 21,499
Provision for impairment losses on B 5 FEWRIE 2 B
trade receivables E R R 2,858 414
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR 2 e - (378,802)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BB RRETE
equipment 74,952 79,140
Release of prepaid lease payments on [0 + b 5 FARE TR
land use rights HEFIE 445 625
Interest income FEIA (2,722) (7,014)
Change of present value in respect of & MY B A B e W GRIA
receivables from disposal of a subsidiary Z IR EZE (7,914) -
Exchange difference on receivables from 5 BB A B IR GR IR
disposal of a subsidiary BN =R 11,781 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WEREE R
equipment (124) (43)
Share-based payment expense ARG 22 H 1,171 4,234
Changes in fair value of derivative TEeR TAERTE
financial instruments - (323) (147)
Operating cash flows before movements RBEEEERIEE
in working capital BemE 133,239 113,443
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA () 20,013 (9,065)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K H fth FE Y 5k IE Rk > 33,249 14,341
(Increase) decrease in deposits and Be RIBAFGEM) R
prepayments (2,467) 1,708
Decrease in trade, bills and other payables B T NEMESTIERD (19,112) (8,975)
Settlement of derivative financial STAE SR T BAE - B4
instruments, net 343 1,078
Cash generated from operations BBEAZR® 165,265 112,530
Income tax paid BRI ATSH (991) (2,091)
Income tax refunded REFTEH 210 335
Net cash from operating activities RETHEECHSTH 164,484 110,774
Investing activities REEH
Interest received 2 HF) S 2,722 4,106
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BE MEE
plant and equipment FTiS 5/ 18 455 430
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  UZBE4% - & R BR1E (56,402) (87,470)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEN B A A - 225,110
Net cash (used in) from investing activities R&EEE(FH)ELE2RETHE (53,225) 192,176
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THT
Financing activities AL E B
Other bank borrowings drawn ROEMRITEE 682,607 934,092
New bank loans raised FIEERITE R 205,531 167,975
Proceeds from issue of shares BT PT1S 3RIR 14,114 1,098
Repayment of other bank borrowings BEEMRITEE (832,442) (901,952)
Repayment of bank loans EBIRITER (365,530) (325,979)
Dividend paid BEAAIRE (11,610) -
Interest paid EARALE (10,698) (21,720
Decrease in trust receipt loans = AR B SR (7,364) (28)
Repayment of obligation under finance lease &8 @& 10 EFIE - (800)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEEFERAREFH (325,392) (147,314)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERBEEEORD)
cash equivalents B hNFEE (214,133) 155,636
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HEER
at 1st January HEZEE 393,988 239,767
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXR# g > /% (28,266) (1,415)
Cash and cash equivalents R+=—A=+—H
at 31st December RekAELEE
represented by bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 151,589 393,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its parent is Hop Fung Industries Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and its
ultimate parent is Hop Fung Industries (Holdings) Limited,
a company also incorporated in the BVI. The address of
the registered office of the Company is disclosed under
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 34.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKAS 19  Defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions
Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2011 — 2013 cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

—REH

AABIMREFRS S EPFE2ERRIA(—N—
FEMEER - KEREREF) RASESEMMAK
NRERRERAR  EROREBMERZFE
RARI([BRAT]) ET - KRR 2B AR AREE
BRXES((RBREZES ) MK ZHop Fung
Industries Limited * M&x AT A A AR EBE
LS MK 2 Hop Fung Industries (Holdings)
Limited o 2R R &) Z 53 55 52 2 30 ik $U AS 5 3
RNABREBHA °
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G
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M REEI cBRMBREER(E
B BHREER ) 2 &

EAEE  AEERRATIREEEHHAR
((BRRHAAR ) EMH 2 BBRBREER 2 5
3T -

BEGFREAFE19R BT FERMNFTE
MR

BB EmEER ZEF] —E—TFR
—E - F AN
BB RS ZER
Y 4F S Ut
BB EER ZBFT] —E——F%F
— = FRHN
BB IS ZER
Y4 B

RAFERAZEEMBREEN 2 ETHARERE
FBEFEZ REPBRR MM K, LRERE B
BRRMBZHEEBLBEATE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE#{ & 49



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

M REEIT2BEEMBRELEN(F
BYBHREER D ZERA(E)

AEE I EAEF A T 5 2RI 1E = RAERZFET
REIERT B AMBRELER :

effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 14
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38
Amendments to HKFRSs
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Financial instruments’

Regulatory deferral accounts?

Revenue from contracts with
customers!

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations®

Disclosure initiative®

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation®

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014 cycle®

Agriculture: Bearer plants®

Equity method in separate
financial statements®

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture*

Investment entities: Applying
the consolidation exception?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,

2018

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning
on or after 1st January, 2016

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,

2016

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEb F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
and for derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new
requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to
include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and
b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a “fair value through other
comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI”) measurement category
for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

° all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are generally measured at FVTOCI. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015

EHE—

2.

52

E-AF{-A=1+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

. with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair
value of the financial liability designated as fair value
through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

° in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

o the new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms
currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types
of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that
qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non-financial items that are eligible
for hedge accounting. In addition, the retrospective
quantitative effectiveness test has been removed.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk
management activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Company will assess the impact of the
application of HKFRS 9. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
contracts” and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: ldentify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company will assess the impact of the
application of HKFRS 15. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until
the Group performs a detailed review.

Other than as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for
the financial year ended 31st December, 2015. Further,
the disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules
regarding annual accounts have been amended with
reference to the new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs.
Accordingly the presentation and disclosure of information
in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended 31st December, 2015 have been changed to comply
with these new requirements. Comparative information in
respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2014
are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the new requirements. Information
previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor
CO or Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended
Listing Rules are not disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “/Impairment of
assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
Rt G o S S ety SE =

TESHEEE)

mREE(E)

ANEERIEMSLEE 2 HAEFERETHNEFR
S HE & EMUE A EAR S —THA &R
XEER  ERZEREEESRINERES
RAHE MR ERMEL AT - AR EERBED
RNPEELAER  AEEZET M2 EEET
ERRZEENBEETEERKEERINILR
B EARGEMIEIRERPEEN, IEENDFE
HIELETR ETUARE - BESMBERELELFE2
St [ AR (D35 7.2 % 1 1B E R B LA X 5 2 X
X5  BAEHENE17TH [HE | BSEANEE
R5 ~ WREATFERUETER FENZ(F
W BBGERE2 [FE IR #3R)FE
Rt E365 [ KERE |THEREE)R
SN o

AN - AP BREM S - R FEAERBELFE
ENBABBNAIBREERQFEFENEAR
BHEBRBNEEUDBRF & F_RIFE=
S )

e M BAREBRERBRFERFMRE
MAREEXBEREEMIS 2R
BORERHE)

« ESR BABBRAENAGRHEELMY
B TEE 2 6 AR (E—RAE
EORERI) ¢ &

e E=R BARBREEXABNTIAEE
BWABUR °
ETREHEREIINTIC -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE#RE 55



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

56

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
losses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEb F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all
the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes, other than construction in progress as described
below, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that
ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term,
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets comprise financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified
as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in changes
in fair value of derivative financial instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for
trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
it in the near term; or

° it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments
recognised in profit or loss include any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including receivables from disposal of a
subsidiary, trade and other receivables, and bank balances
and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEb F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period ranged from 5 to 150 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liability classified as at FVTPL, of
which the interest expense is included in changes in fair value
of derivative financial instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL comprise financial liabilities held
for trading.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade, bills and other
payables and unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
continue to be held in share options reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the consolidated statement of financial position as
a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments on land use rights” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)
Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Allowance for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for obsolete
and slow-moving inventories, the directors of the Company
would evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare
the carrying value of inventories to their respective net
realisable values based on latest market prices and current
economic conditions. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in determining such allowance. If conditions which
have an impact on the net realisable value of inventories
deteriorate/improve, additional allowances/reversal of
allowances already made may be required.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 31st December,
2015 was HK$91,348,000 (net of allowance for inventories of
HK$701,000) (2014: HK$111,361,000 (net of allowance for
inventories of HK$740,000)).

Allowance for trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the directors of the Company take into consideration
the estimation of future cash flows. The amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31st
December, 2015 was HK$174,691,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$3,625,000) (2014: HK$201,550,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$907,000)).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, the directors of the
Company estimate the useful lives of various categories of
property, plant and equipment according to their experiences
over the usage of property, plant and equipment and also by
reference to the relevant industrial norm. The useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually. If the
expectations differ from the previous estimates, the changes
will be accounted for prospectively as changes in accounting
estimates.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31st December, 2015 was HK$1,267,429,000 (2014:
HK$1,371,405,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the unsecured bank borrowings disclosed in note
22, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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NOTES To 1;|-|'E CONSOUDAM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. @I A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ EMIAZEHR
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T
Financial assets BB EE
Derivative financial instruments DEARBIEEBZITA
classified as held for trading SRmITE - 68
Loans and receivables (including BN eI
cash and cash equivalents) (EREReRBEEEE) 551,574 830,081
551,574 830,149
Financial liabilities HEERE
Derivative financial instruments DEARIEEBZITA
classified as held for trading SRTHE - 48
Amortised cost b X)) 405,831 712,979
405,831 713,027
Financial risk management objectives and (b) BiIEEMERBZERBR

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
receivables from disposal of a subsidiary, trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, derivative
financial instruments, trade, bills and other payables
and unsecured bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors of
the Company manage and monitor these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EWMIA(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEMREEBZERBER(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk %5 /E
Foreign currency risk SN e
(i)  Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets iy SEPTEINEEBEEREEKEE

and monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group’s sales is
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and HKD and
significant portion of the Group’s purchases is
denominated in RMB and United States dollars
(“USD”). The Group’s manufacturing operations
are located in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. Certain
bank balances, receivables from disposal of a
subsidiary, trade receivables, trade, bills and
other payables and unsecured bank borrowings
are denominated in the foreign currencies of
the relevant group entities. The directors of the
Company monitor foreign exchange exposure and
manage it by entering into certain foreign exchange
forward contracts as set out in note 19.

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
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liabilities denominated in currencies other than the E¥aBE REBERT
respective functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =4
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FET FHE T
RMB AR 262,457 230,689 79 6,013
HKD BIT 5,482 9,825 616 15,728
UusD ETT 3,341 5,968 40,022 15,863
Macao Patacas (“MOP”) SR Y 317 164 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEb F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(i)

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets
and monetary liabilities (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. Sensitivity rate of
5% represents the assessment of the directors of
the Company of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the foreign currency
exposure in relation to the HKD and USD exchange
rate fluctuation is not significant as HKD is pegged
to USD. For this reason, the sensitivity analysis
below does not reflect this.

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact
relates to monetary assets or liabilities that are
denominated in RMB, HKD or MOP against the
functional currencies of relevant group entities,
HKD or RMB respectively.

In relation to monetary assets, where the functional
currency of the relevant group entity strengthens
5% against the currency in which the assets are
denominated, there would be a decrease in profit
for the year. However, in relation to monetary
liabilities, where the functional currency of the
relevant group entity strengthens 5% against the
currency in which the liabilities are denominated,
there would be an increase in profit for the year.
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e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

()  Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets
and monetary liabilities (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)
A 5% weakening of the functional currency would

have an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax
profit for the year.

$@MITAE(E)
(b) BIEEMEEEERKEE)

5 ERE (&)

SR (AR )

(i)

FTEINEEREERTRAE(E)

INE GRS T ()

WREEBRZES%  AFEMAIBEX
FERBERERRZTE

RMB Impact HKD Impact MOP Impact
AR¥zHE BREE pdskged 7
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
T T#T TEn TR FER AT
(Decrease) increase in profit FIEOR D) (13,119)  (11,234) (243) 295 (16) ®)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

(i)  Foreign exchange forward contracts

During the year, the Group has entered into several
foreign exchange forward contracts with banks,
details are disclosed in note 19. These derivatives
are not accounted for under hedge accounting.
The Group’s foreign exchange forward contracts
exposed the Group to foreign currency risk.

The directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of HKD against USD is limited as HKD is
pegged to USD.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to the Group’s forward
exchange rate risk for contracts of RMB against
USD at the reporting date.

78 HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A

(i

ARRESFRA - HRFERERIL A EE
REREFERZER - HERE DL TR
REE 2 INER R

SNEEHA K

FR - ARBEERITRIZTETINEER
HAH  HERERME19 - ZFITE
TAWRAE HGFHEAR - AEEZ
HNEERBA NS AREARINERL o

AABEERL  BRNBETEITH
- MUBTTRAMETT 2 E L RERAER

TXZ2EREDMIIRIBAEERRE
AARBEETAENMAR 2 EHE
KRR MEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEb F.INANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts (continued)

If the forward exchange rate of RMB against
USD had been 5% higher/lower while all other
input variables of the valuation models were held
constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended
31st December, 2014 would decrease/increase by
HK$440,000/HK$76,000 (2015: nil).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
above sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year. Details of the terms of the leveraged foreign
exchange forward contracts are set out in note 19.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note
22 for details of these borrowings), bank balances
and deposits. The directors consider that the interest
rate risk on bank balances and deposits are minimal,
accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of this
note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”), London Interbank Offered Rate,
prevailing interest rates offered by the People’s Bank of
China (“PBOC”) and prime rate arising from the Group’s
borrowings denominated in HKD and RMB respectively.

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE_F—AF+_A=+—HIFE
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(b) BIEEMEEREREEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

80

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivatives
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
Increase or decrease in a 50 basis point represents
the assessment of the directors of the Company of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. For
the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank borrowings, if interest rates had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the year
would decrease/increase by HK$974,000 (2014:
HK$2,592,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest
rate risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high
credit ratings, the Group does not have significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables consist
of a large number of customers, spread across diverse
industries and geographical areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31st December, 2015,
the Group has available undrawn borrowing
facilities of approximately HK$319,839,000 (2014
HK$116,740,000). The Group monitors its current and
expected liquidity requirements regularly and ensuring
sufficient liquid cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from reputable financial institutions to meet the
Group’s liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EWMIAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEREMREEBEZERBER(EZ)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEBELEE (&
Liquidity and interest risk tables M)A & KT ER K

Weighted  On demand

average or less Total

effective than 1-3  3months 1-2 2-5 undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 1 month month(s)  to1year year(s) years  cash flows amount

mEYS  RERS -EAE =fiA AfBES

ERRZE -EAR =fiA - -FERE  WEERE REER REfE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TER TR

2015 “E-1%
Non-derivative financial FEuBaR
liabilities
Trade, bills and other payables 85« ZEREMERZE - 191,99 - 19,016 - - 1012 211,012
Unsecured bank borrowings ~ ERARTEE
- variable rate -%8 2.7 11,360 39,572 64,334 36,151 51,340 202,757 194,819
203,356 39,572 83,350 36,151 51,340 413,769 405,831
Weighted  On demand
average or less Total
effective than 1-3  3months 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month month(s)  to 1 year year(s) years  cash flows amount
e BEkE  -EAE =R AfRES
ERHE AR =fA £ —EEWE  WEERE  REAE HEf
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TR T T T T T
2014 —E-mE
Non-derivative financial HTEREEE
liabilities
Trade, bils and other payables % ZBEREtERUE - 18872 = 5,939 = - 194660 194,660
Unsecured bank borrowings ~ EEBRITES
- variable rate -i38 35 50,706 180,848 78,742 190,276 36,221 536,798 518,319

289,427 180,848 84,681 190,276 36,221 731,483 712,979
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31st December, 2015, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$10,000,000 (2014: HK$10,000,000). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the
management reviews the expected cash flow
information of the Group’s bank loans with a repayment

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. EMITAE)
(b) BIEEMEEEERKEE)

mEBETEE(E

BEABREEREEKRAZBEITEREIEA
LB BB SRR (R E kst — @A A5
BeR-ZFE—FRE+_A=1+—8 ZZ#F
TEFNEZRITRIRE 4% 510,000,000
BT (ZZ—M4E : 10,000,000/ 75 ) © L&
RAEEBHBERRE  EFHEERITELE
1T E A ESRENE R 2 WIS REF)

REBRDESER  EEERBETRMAH
HHEAZEEERABHEESAERFEZRE
BIEFR2AEERTERNEFRERESR

on demand clause based on the scheduled repayment BHETTRE -
dates set out in the agreement as set out in the table
below:
Weighted On demand
average or less Total
effective than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month cash flows amount
REF 19 BRERR KFRAE
BRFI= —fEAR REAH IREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FTEx THET
2015 —E-HF
Bank borrowings with a BE AN ERESR
repayment on demand ERZRITEE
clause 1.47 10,012 10,012 10,000
2014 —E-—ME
Bank borrowings with a BT EREE
repayment on demand 2 RITEE
clause 1.48 10,013 10,013 10,000

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

W FBNERBRERRZEHTRARNEETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

84

(c) Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

° Foreign currency forward contracts are measured
on a recurring basis using quoted forward
exchange rates and yield curves derived from
quoted interest rates matching maturities of the
contracts.

e The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding those described
above) are determined on a recurring basis in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, based on the degree to
which the fair value is observable, were grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 as set out in the accounting policy in note
3.

Derivative financial instruments are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Level 2.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
This note provides information about how the Group

determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ERMITAE)
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) AFEE

Fair value measurements of financial instruments AT EZNFEF;E(E)
(continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial REEFAE 5 BB N FEFENIEE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EREE ER N FE
basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial REBRNIAD P HEEENVEEBBIIRE®R
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each LEHRIBATEE - TERIH BB ZEET
reporting period. The following table gives information BEERMBABRRTENEE 7 AN E R
about how the fair values of these financial assets and (E 2P A EF T Ko A BR) ©

financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used).

Financial assets/ Fair value at Fair value Valuation technique

financial liabilities 31st December, hierarchy and key inputs

HREE/ MHERK R+=A=+-HANALE AFERH HERTREERABE

2015 2014

Foreign currency forward - Assets - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future
contracts classified as HK$68,000; and &5 = cash flows are estimated based
derivative financial Liabilities — on forward exchange rates
instruments in the HK$48,000 (from observable forward
consolidated statement of EE— exchange rates at the end of
financial position 68,0007 : & the reporting period) and

REEIBEHRRR LB A af- contracted forward rates,
fTESMIAZ 48,000/ 7T discounted at a rate that
INEEEAH reflects the credit risk of various

counterparties.

FRALR - REEHI
EX(REEHRAIERNED
INER) R E AT BLL 3R
fEEARFRER - YRA—E
BARRER ABHEERR

H &R 23R o
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the HANE — BN E R 2 B A E o

period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WaEkoHBER
Revenue g
Revenue represents the gross proceeds received and W FRNHEEERIBITIN N EERRTIEE
receivable on the sale of goods during the year, net of B R B TS BB 4REE ©

discounts and sales related tax.

Segment information

PN
The Group’s operations are organised based on the NEBE 2 ¥ IETRELERZ S - & BESH
differences in products. Information reported to the executive &E¥1ﬁ’“*ﬁ%£ﬁﬁ$ AMITES(AEEEER
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision RE((ZTBEEREE ) ERZ2ERDIRTRE
maker (“CODM?), for the purpose of resource allocation and c‘ﬁ'q,iﬁ B c REBZAIZHHE - WEREEEL
assessment of segment performance is analysed based on BREEDHANCLDIES 2R -

the difference in products. No operating segments identified

by CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable

segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments BEEME AEBEZA 2R EEES I H ARE
are categorised into the manufacture and sale of: NMIHE
e Containerboard — corrugating medium and linerboard o FEMRAL— R ISAR R
e  Corrugated packaging — corrugated paper boards and o R EE—RIFHRRAE
carton boxes
Information regarding the above segments is reported below. B LMD B2 ERE2HRN T
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AT AREE R 2MD 2BEI D 2 N EE s R
results by operating and reportable segment: BT
Segment revenues and results D EB a2 R AE
For the year ended 31st December, 2015 HE-_Z-—RAF+-A=+—HILFE
Corrugated Segment
Containerboard Packaging total Eliminations Consolidated
"R REE% A& #HH &&
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TR TR TR TR
REVENUE g
External sales HONHE 340,356 726,185 1,066,541 - 1,066,541
Inter-segment sales DEPFEHE 584,136 - 584,136 (584,136) -
Total et 924,492 726,185 1,650,677 (584,136) 1,066,541
RESULT E4 |
Segment profit DEFE 34,698 18,004 52,792 - 52,792
Finance costs BRRA (10,698)
Changes in fair value of fTESRTE
derivative financial instruments ~ AT{EZEE) 323
Profit before taxation 75 Al 42,417
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NOTES To 1;|-|'E CONSOUDAM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

b SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

Wk BER(E)

D EER (')
7 EP R R A ()
BE_T-—WE+-_A=+—HILFE

Corrugated Segment
Containerboard Packaging total Eliminations Consolidated
LS Jil Nk f e 3 &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T T THT THx
REVENUE g
External sales HIMEE 291,621 805,481 1,097,102 - 1,097,102
Inter-segment sales DEPFEHE 616,026 = 616,026 (616,026) =
Total Bt 907,647 805,481 1,713,128 (616,026) 1,097,102
RESULT &
Segment profit D EHE 26,876 9,211 36,087 = 36,087
Finance costs BRRA (21,499)
Changes in fair valug of derivative $74£ 4T A
financial instruments NFEZED 147
Sub-total N 14,735
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  HEWBR T2 Ui 378,802
Profit before taxation 75 Al 393,537

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable
segment information are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies described in note 3.

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of finance costs, gain on disposal of a
subsidiary and changes in fair value of derivative financial
instruments. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
No revenue from any single customer during the year

contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for
both years.

RELR] 2 MO AR R 2 S ETBUR R 3
o AEB G BERAAR ©

DEFMEREKRES D BARBRZFE - BRDEME
A - HEMBAR ZWERITESMTAR 30:@
ZBE o W RS EERRFHRRMERSE
BERREZTE -

DERBEDH2RBITHETE -

RREEEA - HET([E—
BB B EEE10% °

BEPREAZEEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(continued)

Segment information (continued)
Other segment information
For the year ended 31st December, 2015

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit:

Wk ERER(E)

D EEM(E
R AR
BE-F-AFt+-A=+—ALFE

AED BB R

Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Total
FBRE REE%# @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FTER FER
Interest income 2 WA 2,000 722 2,722
Release of prepaid lease B[] + b i FA A
payments on land use rights BNHEERE 384 61 445
Depreciation e 61,430 13,522 74,952
For the year ended 31st December, 2014 BHE_Z—NFE+_A=+—HILFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit: STESEAEREE s S5
Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Total
FEIR AR BB et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THT
Interest income R BUA 6,036 978 7,014
Release of prepaid lease 1 [o] + tb 7 FA A
payments on land use rights FENAERE 364 261 625
Depreciation E 61,800 17,340 79,140

88 HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED & 2 £ BiZERER AT



—

Yy
o - -

. .o
NOTES TO TI-I'E CONSOLIDA'EU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers by location of delivery
destination of the goods and (ii) the Group’s non-current
assets by location of assets:

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

Wk BER(E)

DEER(E)
Ith BEEF
TREEBO)AEBIZE MR B BHEIS 250

HE Pl R (AR R A EATE R EIS 2 IER
DEEZ &R

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

HIREF W FEREBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT FET FHET
PRC A 1,066,541 1,097,102 1,287,915 1,384,596
Hong Kong a5 - - 1,740 230,596
Macau R P - - 1,756 1,965
1,066,541 1,097,102 1,291,411 1,617,157

Segment assets and liabilities DEEEREE

The measure of the segment reporting of the Group reported
to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment does not include any assets and
liabilities. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.

AAEREBRRERREEERD EE&E’%EEEHEZFH
ZAKE D BREREFL EAFAEMEEREE -
it TSI MEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR EmR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015

B —F mE S A= L EE

10.

920

OTHER INCOME 8. HflA
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Other income includes: H b A BEE -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE MEE
plant and equipment 2Z YR 124 43
Interest income FEWA 2,722 7,014
Scrap sales BEREHE 436 663
Service income BRAS UL A 8,899 7,541
Sundry income HMETEUT A 1,138 627
13,319 15,888
FINANCE COSTS 9. MBEHA&
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHE 10,698 21,499
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FIB BB X
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Current tax: BNEARR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH 425 755
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR ERSE 1,074 1,126
1,499 1,881
Deferred tax (note 24) RIETTE (F5E24) 4,630 2,484
6,129 4,365
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

A portion of the Group’s profits are earned by the Macau
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated under the Macau
SAR’s Offshore Law. Pursuant to the Macau SAR’s Offshore
Law, such portion of profits are exempted from Macau
complementary tax, which is currently at 12% of the profits.
Further, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, that
portion of the Group’s profit is not at present subject to
taxation in any other jurisdiction in which the Group operates.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008
onwards.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

10. FRiEBiR % (&)

778 U1 Bt T A B4 A3 AR L 2 16.5%
R

RE BB METY i AR B AREOR PRy BT IR [ B
FORREMASLZ R PP B A B ATHRER - AR BRPT
FrpA T R B 0A R - "% a8 M B A SRR T
FEB (B BHRNE Z12%E0H0) © 1o ARBES
R BAAKEZBONBTEARAKERLZE
P 2 (R Eo At RLARE R MR AR IR ©

RIER B EAERA([REMERE]) RIEERT
BEEEHIEN B —ZEZENF—A—B#  +H
B AR 2B EE25% °

FEMAXHEGSER A2 IR SRR
AR 2 SERIT

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Profit before taxation A0 F1 42,417 393,537
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate BB BANEHE16.5%( = —H4F :
of 16.5% (2014:16.5%) 16.5% )5t & 2 18 6,999 64,934
Tax effect of income not taxable BEZRHRBAZ HGTE
for tax purpose (6,337) (64,789)
Tax effect of expenses not DA S 2 RIS s 2
deductible for tax purpose 2,637 2,896
Tax effect of tax losses not SRIARERBIEEE
recognised IS B - 4
Utilisation of tax losses previously R ERTARIER 2 BB E1E
not recognised (44) ©)
Effect of tax different tax rate of FEBRARMETRZFE
PRC subsidiaries 1,200 1,060
Effect of tax exemption granted to BB AR ERERIE 2 &
Macau subsidiaries (1,752) (734)
Tax effect of undistributed earnings of FREKTB AR RS IREFZ
PRC subsidiaries (note 24) s & (MizE24) 3,156 920
Others EAh 270 16
Tax charge for the year FEHMBEIH 6,129 4,365
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

11.

92

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. £FEFE
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit for the year has been arrived at FEFBEEMERGIA)
after charging (crediting): TH&IA -
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - BB KR
equipment ZinE
— included in “cost of sales” —&T A [EHE R | 70,972 73,190
— included in “other expenses” —F A TEMAR ] 3,980 5,950
74,952 79,140
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN S 1,550 1,600
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R BEY 2 FEKAN 853,879 913,496
Release of prepaid lease payments B[] + o fF A TR N TR E 5K IE
on land use rights 445 625
Exchange losses, net bE 5B - FE 1 2,600
Provision for impairment losses on trade B 5 EWGRIE 2 R B B R R
receivables™® 2,858 414
Operating lease rental for warehouse and EERRAEKEHERS
office premises 1,209 561
Change of present value in respect of B B A B 2 FEUEIE 2
receivables from disposal of a subsidiary* IHEZ (7,914) -
Exchange difference on receivables from HENB AR 2 ERFIEZ
disposal of a subsidiary* bE 5 =% 11,781 =
Staff costs 8 T A
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) B (fFaE12) 21,272 51,947
Other staff HMET
— salaries and other allowances — & RHAERL 89,456 77,103
— retirement benefit scheme contributions — RIRTEFIGT B 10,761 6,067
— share-based payments — ARG Tz 104 1€
121,593 135,316

* Amounts included in “Other expenses”

Y SERTA TEMRX]
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NOTES TO'THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
' y e M R MEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
Rt G o S S ety SE =

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERTFETHAEHM S K &S H M
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
Directors ==
Other emoluments
HitMe
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2015
Fees benefits Bonus contributions payments Total
Hek BB DY3
we HivER b SEMR X% 8%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx TiEx TiEx TEx TiEx TiEx

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok SRELE - 2,399 4,000 18 307 6,724
Mr. Hui Sum Ping RTEE - 2,399 4,000 18 307 6,724
Mr. Hui Sum Tai ERENE - 2,114 4,000 18 307 6,439
Ms. Hui Yuen Li FmAR L - 785 - 18 48 851
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric HRELE 146 - - - 32 178
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan EENLA 146 - - - 32 178
Mr. Wong Chu Leung BHRLE 146 - - - 32 178
438 7,697 12,000 72 1,065 21,272
Other emoluments
Hit e
Retirement

Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2014
Fees benefits Bonus  contributions payments Total

58k RN bARR A
ik A EH bzl SRR wfexi ERE

HK§000  HK§000  HK§000  HK§000  HK§000  HK$'000
AL AT AT AL AL AT

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok HRESLE - 2,293 13,333 18 1,174 16,818
Mr. Hui Sum Ping RSt - 2,293 13,333 18 1,174 16,818
Mr. Hui Sum Tai FRRLE - 2,020 13,333 18 1,174 16,545
Ms. Hui Yuen Li FmFI Lt - 715 100 18 185 1,018
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric HMRAELE 140 - - - 124 264
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan Eeibel e 140 - - - 80 220
Mr. Wong Chu Leung Btk 140 - - - 124 264

420 7,321 40,099 72 4,035 51,947
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors (continued)

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is also the Chief Executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
these directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office and no director
had waived any emoluments.

Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2014: four) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining individual for the year ended 31st December, 2015
amounted to HK$864,000 (2014: HK$885,000), representing
salaries and other benefits of HK$550,000 (2014:
HK$564,000), bonus of HK$308,000 (2014: HK$316,000)
and retirement benefits scheme contributions of HK$6,000
(2014: HK$5,000), for his/her service rendered to the Group.

Bonuses to directors and employees were determined based
on the financial performance of the Group for the years ended
31st December, 2015 and 31st December, 2014.

12. %g&i%ﬁﬁ&ké%ﬁ&@é%ﬁ@ﬂ

EE(#F)

ARFERENMBARREETHRAE » R EXFAH
BHMeEBRELEZRTRABRREREMZE
BzMz -

FR - AEERELNEAHE T HEEEELT
BEMASIESEMARNE B Z REh S N EQE R
BEe  TEEFHERCAHS -

o

1=

NEBRANUSZSHMALTH » HAmai(=—Z—m
F UML) BARFES  FEZHFMER EXH
T e ME—_TE—RAFE+_A=T—HILEFEE - £
T—HL A+ 284 5864,000/8 L ( = — P4 :
885,000/ 70) ' BIEMFERASEBIRERSHE
B2 H < MEMEFS550,000/8 T ( ZZF—HF :
564,000/ 75 ) * EAL308,0007 7T (== — M4 -
316,000/ 7T ) K iR (R 18 FJ 5t 8] 4 516,000/8 T (=
ZT—PU4F : 5000/87C) °

\

EEZREEBZIEATIZERE_T—AF+_-A
=t+—BRZZE-NF+-A=+—HIIFEXRE
B2 IERINETE °

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of REEBRA/DIK AT
the Company recognised as distribution TEBAEERZEE
during the year:
2014 final — HK1.50 cents per share —ENEREA—FR
1.5078 11l 11,610 =

The final dividend of HK1.50 cents (2014: HK1.50 cents) per
ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31st December,
2015 has been proposed by the directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A

EERBNBE T AT _A=+—HIF
B2 REI B REEBA 508 (=T —F
1.50781ll) - HEARFA D B IR R E R RIA S K
g LHER - TAEE -



NOTES TO'THE CONSOLIDAT

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
b SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE—F—AF+-A=+—HIFE

14. 8REF

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BEtE -

following data:

RRRHEEANEEERERAREERNTIZATH

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Earnings BF|
Earnings for the purposes of basic and FTESREARNREERRN 2 AT
diluted earnings per share 36,288 389,172
2015 2014
Number of shares BRHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares STESRERETRZ
for the purpose of basic earnings per share TR INRE g E 761,329,439 724,686,539
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares BRSBTS
in respect of share options TRz T2 41,590,183 10,931,187
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FEFRREERN 2
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share LB E 802,919,622 735,617,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015

HE—F—FFF= A=+ B

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

96

15. Y15 - MERRE

Furniture, Plant,
Factory  Leasehold fisturesand  machinery
premises landand Leasehold office and Motor  Construction
inthePRC  buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BELH  HEME GAOXE  BE B
hERE it =2 i RBAERE e RE  RRIR it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000
ThL T Tin T TR T Tin T
COST S
At fst January, 2014 2-I5-A-H 513,599 4,65 50391 16609 137682 12348 756 2,009,180
Exchange adjustments [ 2989 (0 (199 (4 (7,669 (3%) (220) (11,165)
Addtons 25 - - 1,364 403 3670 1070 - 3507
Transfer g - - - - 34,53 - (3453) -
Disposals ik = - - 1) (1,816) (1,320 - (3.208)
Devecognised on disposal of a subsidery HERBA TR (18,899) (1,887) - - - - - (20,789
At 31st December, 2014 “E-MET-A=1-A 491,711 2,758 51,062 16,886 1437549 12,062 - 2012528
Exchange adustments EiRE 26,876) 95) (1813 (494) (12.852) (320 - (102,450)
Additions 5 = = 31 215 23219 1283 21,260 4417
Disposels e - - - 1] (1969 (1139 - B,110)
At 31st December, 2015 “E-REtf=t-A 464,835 2,663 50,124 1659 1,386,013 11,887 2165 1963385
DEPRECIATION i |
At 1st January, 2014 2-I5-A-H 187,721 162 44647 11,163 373,699 10,365 - 519217
Exchange adusiments Ej5R (685) ] (155) %) (1.361) o) - 2.256)
Provided for the year FERE 20406 186 2,656 1137 53801 86 = 79,140
Fiminated on cisposals ek - - - (%) (1590) (1,195) - 821)
Biminated! on disposal of a subsidiary HENBAARHE (11,281) (876) - - - - - (12,157)
At 31st Decernber, 2014 “3-RETZR=1-H 146,160 99 47,148 12,239 404639 10,008 - 641,123
Exchange adjustments EiE (6,044) 34 (1,630) (312 (17,044) 218) - (27.340)
Provided for the yeer EREE 18975 109 2,005 1,065 51918 80 - 74952
Eiminated on isposals R = - - 4] (1,75 (1022 - @19
At 31st Decerber, 2016 “E-REt-A=t-A 167,001 1004 47503 12917 457,761 9,600 - 665,06
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31st December, 201 “E-1Ft-A=t-A 307,744 1699 2,601 3621 928,262 287 21,260 1267429
At 31t December, 2014 “3-RETZA=1-H 345,561 1829 4414 4647 1012910 2,054 = 1,371,406
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NOTES TO TI-I'E CONSOLIDA'EU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Factory premises 4% or remaining lease term of the
in the PRC land element, if shorter
Leasehold land and 4% or remaining lease term of the
buildings land element, if shorter
Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10%
office equipment
Plant, machinery and 3"/3% — 33"/5%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

The carrying amount of the above-mentioned factory
premises in the PRC does not include any land element which
is presented as “prepaid lease payments on land use rights”
separately.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE
RIGHTS

b SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

15. MI% - BMERRB(E)

Bt - BERZREEB (EEIRERINUER
RRATNERITE -

R R 4%k T ZpH Z #h T~ H
(ABE & A%E)

HELMRIEF 4%k Tt FH 2 #R T H
(B G & A%E)

HEWHEEE 20%

R EEBR 10%

/NE L

BRE - #2s MR 31/s% — 33'/2%
RE 20%
> At BB R 2 BR A A S 8 R AT ] £ 3 E6

7 EMIEWI 255 [ L REEMEER
Al

16. T AEESHERE

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fax FAT
The Group’s prepaid lease payments 7N £ 8 + b 5 PR HE TR A
on land use rights comprise: HERERIE
Land use rights in the PRC 7 PAFR B 2 4 Hh {5k 24,415 17,109
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HERMIEDT :
Non-current assets JERBNE = 23,982 16,684
Current assets MENEE 433 425
24,415 17,109

Included in the Group’s prepaid lease payments on land use
rights is HK$1,628,000 (2014: HK$1,689,000) prepayments
under processing arrangement which represents the prepaid
amount under an operating lease for land use rights.

AEBEz L HFERBEBRBNEAERER 2 E
1,628,000/ 70 ( —Z—PH4F : 1,689,000/ 7T) Z 1
TRHEMNFK A EFERESCERE T 2ESE
H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

17. INVENTORIES 17. F&
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT
Raw materials B 82,473 86,650
Work in progress TR 468 809
Finished goods 2IRK T 8,407 23,902
91,348 111,361

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. EZ R EMtEWFRIR

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T

Trade receivables =) 6 e 178,316 202,457
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B REREBE (3,625) (907)
174,691 201,550

Other receivables H b fE IR 93 5,475
Total trade and other receivables B 5 & H At fE W GRIE B R 174,784 207,025

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 150
days to its trade customers which may be extended to
selected trade customers depending on their trade volume
and history of settlement with the Group. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for
doubtful debts presented based on the invoice date, which
approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, at
the end of the reporting period:

REBETESHEFPEE1500EEH - BA R
BRETEITFPEAREZEHE RBENKLHE
M FRERZEES - THSNBERRENER
HE (& B 2 Wt B AR ) HIks R ERE B 1R
252 8 5 R UWFIRZ Rk DA -

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET AT

Within 30 days 30HIA 166,494 194,446
31 - 60 days 31£60H 4,986 4,607
61 — 90 days 61%290H 1,112 1,549
Over 90 days HHiEo0H 2,099 948
174,691 201,550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
external litigation search to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits on a customer-by-
customer basis. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed monthly. Trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$38,748,000 (2014:
HK$42,629,000) which were past due at the reporting date
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
Such amount relates to a number of independent customers
that have good trade and payment records with the Group.
There has not been a significant change in credit quality of the
relevant customers and the Group believes that the balances
are still recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. The average age of these receivables is
64 days (2014: 67 days) based on invoice dates.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

18. EZ RHAMERRIEA(E)

ERMERFELA - ARBEERAIEPFRRER
R FHEEBRBERFZEEERRABREFLR
EEER#E - XPZEERBLINEE LR
AT o BEARBEI X RIRME Z B 5 FE Y 508 S5 2 o 4%
BN FRE TP AR °

AEBESRERUABLEHKTREROERLSR
438,748,000 8B T2 EWHRE (= — I F :
42,629,000/ 70) * ZERERKEECDEBH - M
AEEWEFREFEETEE ZSFEESZH
MAEERBERTBIRNRLCHRZBILIRFEE
B ZERFPZEEEXTESANE BAEEH
EEA K E A B - NEEILEZEERT
BETMEER - BREZXZAH  ZS5EKFIEN
PR A64E (ZZE—MM4E : 67H) °

SR HEREE E S RBIRIE 2 Rk

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBT FET

Overdue by 1 to 30 days BHA1Z=30H 38,748 42,629
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIREE 22 F)

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT AT

Balance at beginning of the year F ) 4L 907 496

Exchange adjustments PE 5 3 (140) (3)

Provision for impairment losses B 5 WGRIE 2 B R
recognised on trade receivables BEE B RS 2,858 414
Balance at end of the year FERER 3,625 907

Impairment losses were recognised based on the Group’s
historical experience, aged analysis and internal assessment
of the recoverability of the debt. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

HEBBDREAEELHERBELSR  RikD
A7 K% M5 [ 4 9 P B R A 7 AR o AN SR B SR A X
FSHBMFEEAERR -
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e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 190. fTEE€®MIT A
2015 2014
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =L BE B8E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET THT THT
Foreign exchange HNE R ERE A
forward contracts - - 68 48

Those foreign exchange forward contracts were not
accounted for under hedge accounting.

ZEINERPENWARIZE N ETHEARERE -

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT AT
Net cash inflow from settlement of FAUSTESRTE
derivative financial instruments HEZ2FREBRA
during the year 343 1,078

At 31st December, 2014, the Group had outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts that were measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The Group had an
obligation, in accordance with the terms of the respective
contracts, to sell USD monthly until maturity. The instruments
were to be settled on a net basis. The major terms of these
outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts were as
follows:

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at
31st December, 2014

Remaining

total notional

Total monthly notional amount amount
BRERESHE BRTERETH

RIZ-—MOF+—_A=+—0 A&EEHRETZ
SMEEHIA N TIRBER R A FEFE - IRES
BRZER  AREBERRABRET  BEES
WEMA/L - BETARRFREE - ZFHKE
TZINEEREHNZ TEERKAT

E-NFE+ZA=+—HZHE
=y

Contract rate

BHER

Maturity
& £ Hf

Sell US$1,000,000 (note)
& 111,000,000% 7T (Ff&E)

US$3,000,000
3,000,0003 7T

100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at
31st December, 2014 (continued)

Note: Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group was a party that had an obligation to deliver
USD and receive RMB at a series of predetermined
prices, based on the price calculated with a pre-
specified formula. The Group delivered USD and
received RMB at stipulated contract rates on a monthly
basis. At each monthly settlement, when market RMB/
US$ exchange rate moved favourable to the Group (i.e.
spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than the
contract rate), the Group’s potential gain were limited
to the agreed amounts as stipulated in the foreign
exchange forward contracts. However, when market
RMB/US$ exchange rate moved unfavourable to the
Group (i.e. spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is higher than
the contract rate), the Group had to sell the agreed
notional amount of USD at the contract rate with RMB.

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash including time deposits of
RMB2,500,000 (equivalent to HK$2,983,000) (2014:
RMB60,500,000 (equivalent to HK$76,582,000)) carry
interest at prevailing interest rate at 3.250% per annum
(2014: 3.750% to 4.125% per annum). Remaining bank
balances and cash carry interest at prevailing market rates
from 0.001% to 0.800% (2014: 0.001% to 0.800%).

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s bank
balances, approximately HK$36,431,000 (2014:
HK$670,000), HK$2,912,000 (2014: HK$5,126,000),
HK$3,009,000 (2014: HK$5,212,000) and HK$317,000
(2014: HK$164,000) denominated in RMB, USD, HKD and
MOP respectively are the currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities.

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

P A=

9. fTEERMIA(E)

() R=Z-—MNFE+=—A=+—HZIE
REEH (&)
M RIEDINEERRAL  AEBAGELR

—RIIREBEREERAZAXNBEEE ZE
1B BHETRBEAAREZENT - K&
B NBESNETZABTHETREAA
R¥ - NBAKER  ARE XTH5
bE SRR fF AR B (B E A RK EITTER
ERFEREGNER) - AAKEZEER
EL‘MI\@%&H’S%@ﬁﬁ?ﬁ:?z%iéﬁ%’ﬁi%ﬁﬁ @
R AR ST 5 E R RIAE
@%(Eﬂ”‘ﬁﬂ}\ﬁﬁg/%ﬂ:l‘: <= RS KIE
) AREEHAARKIZAOEREL
BERBEERIET

20. BITEBREEE

BITHRKLREBRERBRITERNE3.250% (=
T4 : EFRKRI750%F4.125% ) 5t B2 F
Hi 17 3 A R 52,500,000 7T ( #8 & 7 2,983,000 7%
7o) (ZZE—M%F : A R¥60,500,0007T (HE ©
76,582,00078 L)) ° B NIRRT RIS THiE
1T 5 F = 0.001% £ 0.800% ( —Z — M F :
0.001%%=0.800%)t & °
AEBNUEBEEEREZNESEUINZEE AR
ﬁ%’% E5T BT MRPIEHIEZ RITEB ZRAE
2 Rl #9 436,431,000/ 7L (== — M 4F : 670,000
,%n:) 2,912,000/8 7t (ZZ— U4 : 5,126,000/
7T) ~ 3,009,000/ 7T (=T — P4 : 5,212,000/
J0) %317,000/8 70 (= ZF — U4 : 164,000/87C) ©
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e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. 5 - EBERHMENRIE
The suppliers of the Group grant credit periods ranging from AEEZHEFKRENFI0E0EMEER -
30 to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of trade and S ARMERAARERNEREREMEYN 2E S RERE
bills payables presented based on the invoice date at the end JESFRIE 2 BREG AT ¢

of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Current BNHEA 71,778 66,459
Overdue 1 to 30 days BHEI1Z=30H 1,050 7,312
Overdue 31 to 60 days #HAS1 E60H 256 260
Overdue for more than 60 days BEB0H LA 1,709 2,271
74,793 76,302
Payables for the acquisition of property, BEWE  MEREEZ
plant and equipment FET FRIE 14,415 13,062
Other payables and accrued charges (note) L Ath FE < 308 R B AT S (B RE) 122,595 142,924
211,803 232,278
Note: As at 31st December, 2015 included in other payables ffizx: R—ZE—RE+_A=+—Hit AHER
and accrued charges, amount of HK$19,807,000 (2014: I K fEET % 219,807,000 5T ( = ZF — M
HK$61,055,000) represents transaction costs incurred for £ : 61,055,000/ ) ABE-_E—NE+_-A
the disposal of a subsidiary during the year ended 31st =S+ —HIEELERBARMELEZRSK
December, 2014. Ko
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 42 days BEEY EHHEEHA4B (= —PgF : 39
(2014: 39 days). The Group has financial risk management H)  AEEITTAVKRBESERSE  IBEME
policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the FENZIEHEEZEHERNSE o

credit time frame.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE—F—AF+-A=+—HIFE

22. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 22, EIEARITEE
Unsecured bank borrowings comprise: EIKRITIEE BT
2015 2014
Effective interest rate HK$’000 HK$’000
BRAIE FET FHET
Bank loans IRITER 1.488% — 5.250%
(2014: 1.460% - 6.887 %) 136,659 302,059
Other bank borrowings HMRTEE 1.490% — 1.700%
(2014: 1.622% - 2.840%) 58,160 208,896
Trust receipt loans EEMEER Nil £
(2014: 1.559% - 2.830%) - 7,364
194,819 518,319
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Carrying amount repayable*: JEERREE"
Within one year —FER 101,415 287,249
More than one year, but not exceeding —F DA _E{B 7R 8 /i
two years 33,555 185,688
More than two years, but not exceeding MFE A EERN AR F
five years 49,849 35,382
184,819 508,319
Carrying amount of bank loans that BE ke ERERIGR
contain a repayment on demand clause ZIRITERZREE 10,000 10,000
194,819 518,319
Less: Amount due within one year B RREBAENRZ —FR
shown under current liabilities FfieHE (111,415) (297,249)
Amounts due after one year shown as RIERENBES R —F&
non-current liabilities ZHi¢ 58 83,404 221,070
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set * S IR ESRER B S TATEAAH
out in the loan agreements. BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

22. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 22,

(continued)

As at 31st December, 2015 and 31st December, 2014, the
unsecured bank borrowings carry interest at floating rates,
thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
interest rates are linked to HIBOR, prevailing interest rates
offered by PBOC, plus a margin, and prime minus a margin.

As at 31st December, 2014, included in the carrying
amount of the Group’s unsecured bank borrowings, bank
borrowings of approximately HK$15,728,000 (2015: nil) were
denominated in HKD that were denominated in the currency
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

BIERBRTEEE)

RZZE—RF+_A=+—BKk=_ZE—NFE+_A
=+—8 ' EXFRTEERISHIERGTS - Bt
AEBEAERESRENXRER - AN RERE
SRITRIFERE ~ ATTRMZIRITARN EEE M&
BEAMEREETE -

R-ZB—NE+—-A=+—08  RAEBEEEHRR
TEEZEREEES © 415,728,000 T(—E—H
F ) ZRTEETAEEEE TR 2 NEE
LASNZ BHEHETTHIE -

entity.
23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
Number of shares Share capital
RABEE [N
2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAET
Ordinary shares of FIREE0A10BTZ
HK$0.10 each TmRAR
Authorised: EERRA -
At the beginning and RERFL
the end of the year 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRBREA
At the beginning of the year REA] 728,305,000 724,386,000 72,831 72,439
Exercise of share G GERD)
options (note 25) 50,408,000 3,919,000 5,040 392
At the end of the year RER 778,713,000 728,305,000 77,871 72,831
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24.

25.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The followings are the
deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by the Group and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting
years:

[ |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24,

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

3 SE 75 15

BRI ARBRREN S - ETFEEHEAER
& EEEIER - LT AREEER 2 EEPAS &
(CE) RRAREEERUEREFE 2 BB

Undistributed
Accelerated earnings
tax of PRC  Write-down
depreciation subsidiaries of inventories Total
B B
piif:3 DNAEZ A
BERE  RDRER WA st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 1st January, 2014 R-ZE—nmFE—-—A—H 29,345 7,406 (32) 36,719
Charge to profit or loss R 1,564 920 - 2,484
At 31st December, 2014 R-_ZE—NFE+-_A=+—H 30,909 8,326 (32) 39,203
Charge to profit or loss TEEHMG 1,474 3,156 - 4,630
At 31st December, 2015 R-_Z—h&+-_A=+—H 32,383 11,482 (32) 43,833

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 4th September,
2008 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected participants for their contribution to the
Group. The Old Scheme expired on 3rd September, 2013
and all options previously granted under the Old Scheme
have been lapsed.

The Company approved and adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme”) on 3rd June, 2013 for the
primary purpose of providing incentive or rewards to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group.

25.

RIBH BB EPASHOE - RIS BB A

522 \F—A—BRERRBRZFBEMNER2 R
BB -

PARS 47 32 {4 2 X% i
BEXNRZBRETS
RER-"ZT=FAANBRBIRER  ADH

ERMmzBEEAE (&8 D ER2ANREARE
BIEHERZEE2 BEELBBREE - B &
ER_F-—=FNA=BEH - MEMREES
Rz rEBRERKD RN -

ARFER =T —=F/XH = BHbERFRAF B
BT EI([#t8)) T2ANAYAREELER
ZIEESBEEHBEIHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 25. LR Tz H(E)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Under the New Scheme, the Board of directors of the
Company may grant options to eligible employees, including
executive or non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors), of the Company, its subsidiaries,
or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest, to subscribe for shares in
the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time
to time, grant share options to any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity,
any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity, and any
consultants, advisers, managers, officers or entities that
provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the New Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of the passing of the ordinary
resolution for adoption of the New Scheme. The number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised at any time under
the New Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the New
Scheme. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director or any
of their respective associates would result in the shares in
the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and with a value (based on the closing
price of the shares of the Company at the offer date of each
offer) in excess of HK$5,000,000, such grant of options must
be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders in
accordance with the New Scheme.

1 06 HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A
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REHE ARREFGAAARR - HWEA
RIS AR BT B A RIFFA TR TS
(TFREREZ2EERERE (BEATESLIH
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ARRTBIRRAD © RO AABEENER L EIE T
EAIRAAREE 2K B R R MR ERBRHEE
VSRS 2 (R - AKB K EAFRERE
ZEREE - ARANEESEF PR ERER M
5E - B REMBRMERE 2 EM@BAA B
Al K3 REABHHEE -

RIBFF B h 2 BAEE 2 BITER A TR&1T2
BDEE - BRI EBEARAF A 2 EBRER
BRAEBARRAIEETRMNZ10% ° PMEMERE
RITEARBF =8I H M AR1T 62 2 2 RS A M A
TEHIBRMHZHE - MEEBAARNRKEEITR
R230% °

RERR R RABIFEF TS L40E - REMEEA
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BHRE - ATEBBARA A NEEEE ZETRG
Z1% ° MR —BEBRRFBIIFATESHT
AEESAZHEALRELTAERE SEHEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the directors to the grantee
and in the absence of such determination, from the date
of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to the
earlier of the date on which such option lapses and ten years
from the date of offer of that option. A consideration of HK$1
is payable upon acceptance of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal
value of the share; the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer; and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options held by the directors and other employees and
movements in such holdings during the year:

e BB HRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

25. ROz X (4#&)

REXNRZBRETS(E)

BRI RESEERANGARA 2 IR AR 1T
% MABEE  AREANREBRERREEZ
BRERMz BEREZBEREASES THE28
FEH - REMBERERANUETAE -

TEEDHARARERETE  ETNSERKRNE
B ARRBRONE L B B2 W E R B&RER
HEMAAEERAZ FHORMEZRSE

TREBERESREMEBSKAZARFBAREN
RZEBBRENFRN 2 EBFE

Exercised Exercised
Exercise  Outstanding during  Outstanding during  Outstanding
Option type Date of grant price at 1.1.2014 the year  at31.12.2014 theyear  at31.12.2015
RZ2-m% R=Z-m%F R=B-1%
-A-H t-A=1-A T-A=1-A
BRESR RiAH %@ i R AT ER{THR te RAT B ERTR PR
HK$
BT
Granted under New Scheme
BB ER L
F 24.10.2013 0.28 72,438,000 (3,919,000) 68,519,000 (50,408,000) 18,111,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERATE = 32,300,000 981,000
Weighted average exercise price (HKD)
mEFRGEE(ET) 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.28
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e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 25. UMz (&)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) BREZNTZERESTE(E)

Note: The vesting period, which is the period from the date of
grant to the exercisable date, of the share options granted is
determined by directors of the Company at each time when
the options are granted. Holders of share options granted
under the Scheme may only exercise their options during the
exercisable periods as follows:

et - RHOBRELFBH AR BPEAT6E B A
B DRAAREENF R BERERETE -
RIBEFTEI LT ER O 2 BREZHA AER
AT RIAT (R BRI 1T e ELRE A A

Option type F Maximum % of share options exercisable
FEBRE ATEERESEES L
1.5.2014 - 30.4.2015 up to 50%
= A1 3E50%
1.5.2015 - 30.4.2016 up to 75%
B = I 75%
1.5.2016 — 30.4.2017 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

B E100%(AHKRITEE AR)

During the year ended 31st December, 2015, 50,408,000
(2014: 3,919,000) ordinary shares were issued at the
subscription price of HK$0.28 (2014: HK$0.28) each for a
cash consideration of HK$14,114,000 (2014: HK$1,098,000)
upon the exercise of the share options type F. The options
outstanding at the end of the year have a remaining
contractual life of two years.

The following table discloses the detail of options type F
exercised during the year ended 31st December, 2015 and
31st December, 2014:

For the year ended 31st December, 2015

Exercise date

HE_T—HAF+-_A=+—HIEE - AF
FEREETEMZRBEESR028BT(=ZF
— P04 : 0.287 T ) #1750,408,000/% (== — Y
F : 3,919,0008% ) LA H + NIRER SR E
14,114,000 7 ( == —PH4F : 1,098,000 7T) °
RELRFEARTEBREZHR TANFHERE -

TERFEEAREZE - T—AF+-_A=1t—BREZE
T NE+ A=+ HIFECITEZFERE
g =2

RE-F-AFT-A=t—ALEE

Number Share price at
exercised exercise date

RITEEHZ

1TfE B H TEEE R EE
HK$

7SI

8th April, 2015 —E-RFMANAR 12,000,000 0.76
10th April, 2015 —E—AFMA+AH 1,000,000 0.80
22nd April, 2015 —E-RFMA=1+=H 19,000,000 0.95
6th May, 2015 —E—RFARAKHAH 13,158,000 0.89
8th June, 2015 —E—A%FxA\B 500,000 1.02
21st September, 2015 —E-AFNA=+—H 4,750,000 0.62

50,408,000
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NOTES TO'THE CONSOLIDAT

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
e L o e = e = ]

25. ROz X (4#&)

BREXNRZBRETEI(E)
BE-FT-WE+=A=+—RILEE

Number Share price at

Exercise date exercised exercise date

RITEREZ

A=R 1IEEE & B

HK$

BT

22nd October, 2014 —E-NFEF+A=+=H 250,000 0.37

17th November, 2014 —E—NF+—A++tH 700,000 0.56

24th November, 2014 —E—mE+—HA=1+/mMAH 400,000 0.51

28th November, 2014 —E—mFE+—A=Z+N\H 100,000 0.61

4th December, 2014 —E—FE+_—HKMH 650,000 0.55

19th December 2014 —ET—NE+=ZA+NH 1,819,000 0.42
3,919,000

The fair values of the share options at the grant date were
calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

REFH B BREN A FETER - BARAG

H o BRAZBAREBLT

2013
Share price on the date of grant REHBHZ’RE HK$0.2805%8 7T
Exercise price 1TEE HK$0.2807% 7T
Expected volatility FEHAR 18 53%
Expected life from date of grant RI%H B HR A 5 3 yearsfE
Risk free rate 425 [ B 1) 2 0.538%
Expected dividend yield TERTAR B2 0%

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE#H & 1 09



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

25.

26.

110

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s 875-day share prices before
the date of grant. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised total expense of HK$1,171,000 for the
year ended 31st December, 2015 (2014: HK$4,234,000) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease which fall due as follows:

25.

26.

DURAD =AY 2 2 (48 )
REXNRZBRETS(E)

FEHR IRAR IR AR A BN R B #1875 B #fE 2 AR
ERNBEZKIEETE - ZIENER 2B FHER
EEERTIERE  TRERIRTAREZVE
e Z S EMETAAE o

NEERABE-_E—AFE+_A=+—81t
FEHEAQRAAMBOZCEREEBEZAI LA
1,171,000/ 70( —Z = — M4 : 4,234,000 7C) °

REHSERIE

RIMERR  ARERBTIABUBLEHEFTRH
REBENFAYE - AR TSIHMEE -

2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBx FAT

Within one year —FR 341 430
In the second to fifth years inclusive FFEFAIF(BEEERTE) 113 115
454 545

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its warehouse, ancillary office properties
and car parks. Lease is negotiated for an average term of two
years (2014: two years) with fixed monthly rentals over the
term of the lease.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED & 2 £ BiZERER AT

CUHERRIEALEEETRERE BBHRAY
EREENG Y EGES  c BEZ THERET AR
F(ZE—0F : WE)  THRBOREXAERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 27. EXREE
2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Capital expenditure in respect of the SR kEE N U e
acquisition of plant and equipment bt ) VN
contracted for but not provided in the W B & AR 2
consolidated financial statements 17,916 3,930

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Hong Kong

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified
in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represent
contributions payable to the funds by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the scheme.

PRC

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of their employees to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions
amounted to approximately HK$10,831,000 (2014:
HK$6,139,000).

8. RKEF T

=8

AEBASEEBREMARGIEATEREE(TRTE
E5TE]) - RIESFEIRER DB BIED
REbER B BEEREM - RESFEZE
ERAEEEENH  YABIXTARGNZES
EE - REBRESTERY  BEXRHEREREA
ERAEER L RABES BB HR - AEH
AR E - B ERMBEER T EMNHRTE
LR o

RiFEBREMEMEEKRERIEZBRES SR
REMETEHERRAREIZA BN E 2 LR ENE

A

P E

REE 2 PEIKE A REE AT BB 2E 2 BK
EERAEAEIKE - HBARABKSEEZ
FME -—B oL ERBERE R 2 RKRENESIH
Ko AEEBRKBEN B 2 —BEERMAZTE
BISRE AR -

FR - RIREAF S KA A10,831,0008 T (=
T[4 : 6,139,000/ 7T ) °
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29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. HEME QA

112

On 24th October, 2014, Hop Fung Group Company Limited
(“HFGC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into two equity transfer agreements (the “Equity
Transfer Agreements”) with two independent third parties (the
“Purchasers”). Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreements,
HFGC agreed to sell and the Purchasers agreed to purchase
51% and 49% equity interests in Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper
Ware Factory Limited (“FKHF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of HFGC, respectively for each purchaser, at an aggregate
cash consideration of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$481,173,000).

The entire equity transfer would be completed by two
stages and within two years after completion of the first
stage. The first stage of the transactions for transfer of 49%
equity interest was completed on 23rd December, 2014,
and the remaining 51% interests will be transferred by the
end of 2016. Along with those Equity Transfer Agreements,
there are contractual arrangements between HFGC and
the Purchasers, limiting those HFGC’s controlling power on
FKHF after the completion of the first stage.

Based on all the terms and conditions of the arrangements
(which were entered into at the same time and in
contemplation of each other) and their economic effects, the
directors of the Company consider the overall commercial
effect of the two transactions is to dispose of FKHF.
Furthermore, the Group ceased to exercise powers to direct
the relevant activities of FKHF after the completion of the first
stage of the transactions. Accordingly, the transactions were
treated as a single transaction whereby the Group lost control
over FKHF at the date of completion of the first stage of the
transactions. Gain on disposal of FKHF of HK$378,802,000,
which was calculated as the difference between the fair
value of the consideration, net of transaction costs, and the
previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of FKHF,
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31st
December, 2014.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A

R-ZT—NF+A=+HAE ' ARAZ2ENBA
A]Hop Fung Group Company Limited( [HFGC])
HBREBLE=F([ZEEH )L mm kS
Eipa ([ RREEpz]) - BERESEDGS
HFGCRELHERZEFEHRE® BB EHFGC
2EMBAR -BHEALEABRERAR (B E
A2 ) 251%K%49% G BIREREAEARE
380,000,000 T (FHE #481,173,000/8 7T ) ©

e i R 1S 0 P fEPE B TT - A58 — PR ER TR
BMFATK - P2 F R (HRIO%EE) D
RZZE-—MFE+=—RA=+=H%K ' 88 F51% %=
BN -—F—R"FEAMEE - BERIRSFREES
W% - HFGCEZEFBE LA LA MR - REI TR
E— PR STRIRHFGCR Bl & & Z 1 Hl42 -

BEZEZHE(DRRAFEREERR LT E B
SR RIS ) 2 B B G R A1 LA R 1% & 2 #50F |
& ARFEERAEMER G ZEEBEETE AT
EREEE - b4 AEERR S 2 F —PEERTK
BTIBAERNIETRBESE ZHEER - AL
ZERGERBE—XRG  MAEBRRSZE—
PEERSER HHAR A BEA B2 IEHiE - HEZZ
—MFE+_A=1+—HIEFE HEBREALEZI
#378,802,000/8 7t (FERE 2 A FERR B KA
FrEEGEEERBELAMZERAEZ Z8E)
ERAEEER o
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 29. HEMBAR (&
Consideration received/receivables Bk WA E
2014
HK$'000
FH&T
Cash consideration HeRE 235,857
Present value of cash consideration receivables EURREREZRE 229,068
Total consideration BRE 464,925
Analysis of assets over which control was lost KER4IREEE 2D
2014
HK$'000
FH&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI~ BB R &S 8,629
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights T AR A ERIE 5,480
Current assets MENEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR ® 1
Other receivable H Ath fE YR IE 12
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights T AR EERIE 200
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE 14,322
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEME ATz Wi
2014
HK$’000
FHBT
Total consideration wRE 464,925
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (14,322)
Transaction costs incurred in connection EREEEMEEAZRZKA
with the disposal (71,801)
Gain on disposal ekl 378,802
ANNUAL REPORT 2015 £ E 4% 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-A=+—HIFE

29.

30.

114

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal of a
subsidiary

29.

HEHB QR (&)
HEMBARRMEE 2RERAFHR

2014

HK$’000

T

Total cash consideration received BlER e RE 235,857
Transaction costs paid in connection with the disposal BREEE 22N S (10,746)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZReRREEE (1)
225,110
During the year ended 31st December, 2015, change of HE_Z—AF+-_A=1+—HLEE RbE—

present value in respect of the receivables from disposal
of a subsidiary and the corresponding exchange difference
amounting to HK$7,914,000 and HK$11,781,000
respectively, were recognised in other expenses.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The tax audits conducted by the Inland Revenue Department
(“IRD”) on the Company and its subsidiaries in respect of the
years of assessment 2004/2005 to 2010/2011 are still on-

going.

The IRD had previously issued additional assessments to
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company in
June 2006, October 2006, March 2012, March 2013, March
2014, September 2014, March 2015 and December 2015
respectively amounted to HK$30,441,000 in aggregate. The
Group had lodged objections with the IRD against these
additional assessments.

Subsequent to the lodgement of the objections of the Group,
tax payment of HK$1,993,000 was made during the year
ended 31st December, 2006. Also, banker’s undertakings
of HK$3,828,000 were arranged by the Group and had
been accepted by the IRD as security for the payment
of the mentioned tax. Further, tax reserve certificates of
HK$3,499,000 in aggregate, in respect of 2005/2006 and
2007/2008 to 2010/2011, pending the outcome of the tax
audits and the objections, were purchased in December
2006, June 2014, November 2014, June 2015 and March
2016 respectively.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A

30.

Fﬁﬁﬁ% 75’]&4&1 KIR 2 A S8 R AR A EE 3 2=
#0 5 /7,914,000/% 7T K. 11,781,000/8 7T » JH#E
w?%ﬁwﬂfz

RARBE
M_qui/ THEE - Ti/
——E%%ﬁirﬂﬁm %%%ﬁﬁ%%(F%ﬂi‘%%J)M$

NAREWB AR ZHBBEZADELETH

RBEBEAD RN ZTZRERA - _‘—?‘—:,T/\i‘f’
R-ZZ2——%=1 ==/ " —
H=f —T-MEAA  —FE-RE=A );27-2

—AFE+ - ARARABRARRZETHBAAFZE
HREINERR - FREE A 530,441,000 7T © A&
BBz ERINT R A PR R o

HE-_ZEXRF+-_A=+—HILFE  K&EHE
TREER - B HHEIET,993,000% T © BE
AEEE T PR 1T IES,828 ooo;%ﬁ{’ﬁi%siﬁt
MR Z R MEEREDESTZE o s - R
:ggﬂi+ A =-Z— E¢A A —Z—m©
F+—H —RENAR_ZE—RNEFE=ZAH
E'Jﬁjif'ggﬂi/—7 TRER— ?ﬁti/_f
ENFE_T—TF /T ——FEE WR%D,\
3,499,000/ 7T » FREEZ MR R 2 &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

The directors believe that no additional provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax in respect of the tax audit for the years of
assessment 2004/2005 and onwards is necessary at the
present stage. The directors consider that the inquiries from
the IRD are still at a fact-finding stage and the IRD has yet
expressed any formal opinion on the potential tax liability,
if any. The potential tax liability, if any, cannot be readily
ascertained at this stage.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of directors, who are key management
of the Group, during the year are disclosed in note 12. The
remuneration of executive directors, who are also the key
executives of the Group, is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, HFGC entered
into Equity Transfer Agreements to dispose its 100% equity
interests in FKHF by two stages at total consideration of
HK$481,173,000. First payment of HK$235,857,000 was
received from the Purchasers during the year ended 31st
December, 2014 and amount of HK$245,316,000 will be
settled by the end of 2016.

In respect of the disposal of FKHF, transaction costs of
HK$19,807,000 (2014: HK$61,055,000) are accounted for
as trade, bills and other payables, at the end of the reporting
period.

Further details of the disposal of FKHF are set out in note 29.

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the Group
entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of a motor
vehicle with a total capital value at the inception of the leases
of HK$800,000 with initial payment of HK$66,000 being paid,
and the amount were fully repaid in 2014.

30.

31.

32.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS RERMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2015
BE-—ZE—AF+-A=+—HIFE

RHREE(E)

EEAE BRBEFHR_ZTNF —TTHEF
MEBZEBREE I HREESZ LB BAERELEE
INEE - EER A BIBRINEEREERE - BT
BB BRIEAMEEREAER)BRIMER
=5 o RIEMEEBR RS BT T REERIB AR
(mA) -

BEALRS

ERAEEIZEBABZEEFNFAZHER
MIEE12HE - ATESTTIRAEEETEZTHA
B REZHEHFMEZESRFEARR LTS
BEET -

TEHFRERS

HE-_Z-—NWE+-_A=+—HBILEE  HFGCZT
YREERRZ PRBERLEENBEEE L
100% A% # » 48R (8 5481,173,000/5 7T - AEH
EREBE-_ZT—NE+=-A=+—BI-FEWEZ
£ B HE—$13235,857,000/8 7T © TR —=
— N K A 455 245,316,000/8 7T ©

REEREEEMSE  R|EHR - KHUA
19,807,000/8 7T (= F — M4 61,055,000/ 7T) B
SIEE S - RERHMEMRE -

ERHEREE S 2 LM ISHN M 29 -

HE_Z-—NF+_A=1+—HLFE A£ER
—ETEIUMERELTH  RNAERBEZEAR
#4{E 800,000/ 7T I 2 X it & £ 5 766,000/
7T MABREER T —NERHEE -
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33. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33. KPR AN BEMRRRBE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Investment in subsidiaries RITB AR Z1E 561,013 566,873
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE W Ff B8 A RIFRIB 1,395,621 1,427,567
Deposits and prepayments e KK 962 504
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR NI S 4,579 9,139
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR EPNGIE e (1,144,936) (1,248,603)
Other payables and accrued charges H e 508 MR S (22,548) (7,211)
Taxation payable JE BB IE (906) (645)
793,785 747,624
Share capital N 77,871 72,831
Share premium I = (B 470,363 444,000
Share options reserve BAR 7,382 23,500
Retained profits (note) IREE A (B aE) 238,169 207,293
793,785 747,624
Note: B e
Details of the movement in the Company’s retained profits are set out ARRRBFA Bz B FBEHIIAT :
below:
HK$’000
&
At 1st January, 2014 R-ZZE—WFE—H—H 143,381
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FEMBREEKZEEE 63,912
At 31st December, 2014 R-ZE—NNFE+-_HA=+—H 207,293
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FEMNBEEREZEK =L 42,486
Dividend paid BAIAR S (11,610)
At 31st December, 2015 N-ZE—FfaFE+=—B=+—H 238,169
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st December,

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

2015 and 31st December, 2014 are as follows:

34. TEMEBLARER

RZZE—RF+_A=+—BKk=_ZE—NFE+_A

=t+t—RZIEMBARFBAT :

Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Issued and of issued capital/
incorporation fully paid registered capital
or registration/ share capital/ and voting right
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR/ BRARMERAE/ RAFAFREERRIRE/
WEARER EXHE BARA AMEARRERZEELS TEXH
2015 2014
% %
Chun Yik (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Trading of corrugated
Offshore) Limited MOP100,000 packaging
Ea(RPBERAZRS) ARAR i @M% 100,000R 5% IFekES
Fung Kong Shing Fung Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Paper Ware Factory Limited HK$2
BEASEnRERAR &k LR RARR
Gong Ming Hop Fung Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of
Paper Ware Factory Limited HK$100 management service
LRSS RBERARA &k LRR100%TT RAEER R
Non-voting
deferred shares
HK$3,000,000 (note)
ERFERTR
8,000,000/ 7 (fifzF)
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
Industrial Limited* US$112,247,808 of containerboard and
(equivalent to corrugated packaging
approximately
HK$764,494,899)
RECEH)AXBRAR HE ERA112,047,803% T BRARRBEE
(#13E1764,494,8097 ) HiERES
Hop Fung Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of
HK$2 management service
REERARAT &k ERR2AT RAEEER
Hop Fung Group Company Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
US$600
RERNHE/ B EER600%T REAER
Hop Fung International Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of
HK$2 accounting service
AEERAEXERAA &k ERR2AT RftestiRis
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

34. TEMBARER(E)

118

Proportion of
nominal value
Place of Issued and of issued capital/
incorporation fully paid registered capital
or registration/ share capital/ and voting right
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
HEMERL,/ BRARMERE/ RAAFBEERORE/
WEARER EXHE BARA DMEARRERZEELS TEXH
2015 2014
% %
Man Shung (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing and
Offshore) Limited MOP100,000 trading of corrugated
packaging
BIRCRFIREFAZRE)ERAF P EEMR100,00025% IFBEZEERE S
Top Develop Limited BVI Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 and trading of
containerboard
REERAF ABREUAS LRR1ET REARRAEREES
BRERRnERAR PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and
HK$23,000,000 trading of corrugated
packaging
H E & BR223,000,0007 T RBEREZ2ERES
AELRCRINERA PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and
HK$25,000,000 trading of corrugated
packaging
i B Hk725,000,000% 7T EREBERES
Note: The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the MizE : EEEREEERYIEFRAERIFS - BEEE LI

Group, practically carry no right to dividends or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any annual general meeting
of the company. On winding up, the holders of the deferred
shares are entitled to the distribution after the distribution
of HK$100,000,000 million to holders of ordinary shares, as
specified in the articles of association.

Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all

subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting n=

at 31st December, 2015 and 31st December, 2014 or at any

time during the year.

Ao

* Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited, B Ze# 254K *
mAERAA and &L M (RY) ER A A are wholly foreign

owned enterprises.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £ 2 & @EiZRER A A

MW%Z%,}EH&@ WA BEHE IR RBE A SR

CHERRE FIREZER o RIERE - RIR
Tiﬁiéi@% HARE - EERGIFE ARRRA
E@ARFE B A 5 E100,000,000,000,0007 L4 2
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 3. TEMNBARER(E)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in FRINHBA AT EER A ANEREENEERESE
the opinion of directors of the Company, principally affected FEZAREEWBAR  c EFRE - BHMHE
the results and assets of the Group. To give details of other NEBEB| e B ARBRILE °

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other RIPERR  ARRFEEHAEEME TEEARZ
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. These HEBAR - ZEMBARRNEANEBELEE S
subsidiaries are operate in Hong Kong or BVI. The principal o ZEMBARIZCEFEERMEBNT

activities of these subsidiaries are summaries as follows:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FEEW FTEEEMB MELR#E
2015 2014
Investment holding BVI 1 1
& R EEELHES
Inactive BVI 1 1
HE RERZES
Hong Kong 2 2
B
3 3
4 4

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 FE#H & 1 1 9



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBEHME

Year ended 31st December,

BE+T-HA=+t—BHLEE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHIT FAT FAT FHT FHERT
RESULTS ES
Revenue W z5 1,440,233 1,051,097 1,026,623 1,097,102 1,066,541
Cost of sales & BN (1,224,150) (880,542) (853,037) (913,496) (853,879)
Gross profit E 5 216,083 170,555 173,586 183,606 212,662
Other income H AU A 24,875 11,556 12,666 15,888 13,319
Selling and distribution costs $HE R A (68,624) (55,714) (60,423) (63,522) (61,400)
Administrative expenses TR (71,108) (68,878) (71,602) (75,178) (88,619)
Other expenses bR (34,181) (23,717) (28,735) (24,707) (23,170)
Finance costs BT PR AR (24,370) (25,412) (24,737) (21,499) (10,698)
Changes in fair value of TESMI A
derivative financial NEEZED)
instruments (5,815) 18,444 4,329 147 323
Gain on disposal of a HEHBARZ
subsidiary Wz - - - 378,802 -
Profit before taxation AT AE 36,860 26,834 10,084 393,537 42,417
Income tax expense Frs B2 (10,067) (6,245) (4,186) (4,365) (6,129)
Profit for the year, attributable A2 R A A
to owners of the Company E(EFEEFHE 26,793 20,589 5,898 389,172 36,288
At 31st December,
R+=-—BA=+—H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT T T THT FHERT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥XERE®E
Total assets 1B E 2,066,021 2,044,395 2,024,335 2,335,806 1,943,015
Total liabilities BAE (1,046,216) (929,988) (874,537) (801,357) (462,677)
Total equity attributable RARER A
to owners of the Company FE(LEm 4R R 1,019,805 1,114,407 1,149,798 1,534,449 1,480,338

120
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